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EARLY SPANISH AND MEXICAN, SETTLEMENT~
IN ARIZONA

*By Ray H .. Mattison

A RIZONA, likl;! few other states, is largely the product of.
the fusing of two influences possessing widely divergent

backgrounds.. When the American pioneers, largely of
northern European descent, first came into this region in the·
middle of the 19th century they found portions of it already
settled by people of Spanish origin. This 'latter group had
first established itself in southern Arizona a century and a
half earlier; when the English colonists, were settling the
Atlantic seaboard'. . Spanish laws, customs, political, re­
ligious and economic institutions had already become firmly
implanted there. These two ethnological elements, aside
from the. aboriginal Indian populati()n, have given Arizona,

.in common with the other neighboring southwestern states,
. a uniqueness in character.

The story of the westward movement of the English­
speaking peoples in the United States is a familiar one. The
northward push by the Spanish groups; while .much older, is
a comparatively new field of research. The work of the

'early missi_onaries along the northwestern frontIers of New
Spain has been adequately told. by Professors Bolton, WyIIys,
Father Engelhardt and others. Professor Lockwood, Mr.
Farish and others have told the story of the American occu­
pation. Unfortunately for the intervening late Spanish
and the Mexican periods, little historical source material

• Mr. Mattiso. is a Park Ranger in the National Park Service and was stationed
at one time at Tumacacori National Monument, Nogales. Arizona.
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seems to -be available: For a general history of Arizona,
Bancroft's works still remain the standard authority: '

While the writer was stationed .at'Tumacacori, he be-_
came interested in some of the old l~nd titles of Arizona.
Practically no new fragments of historical evidence could
be fpund by him on the Spanish settlements in Arizona in
the 18th century. An examination of the expedientes, titulos
and evidence supporting the claims to the- old Spanish and
Mexican hmd grants in the. General Land Office, however, .
did reveal some new material regarding th'e'settlements in
Arizona:in'the late Spanish.and Mexican periods. For that
reason, the writer has devoted his greatest attention to these
grants. To nIl in the, many' gaps in the story, however, it­
became necessary to borrow heavily from the works of Ban-
croft, Professors Bolton, Chapman and others. '

In collecting material for this paper, the writer is in­
debted to the Library and Law College of' the University of
Arizona as well as the General Land Office at Phoenix for. .,
their assistance.

The Mwsion Period

T HE early phases of Spanish penetration into what is
now southern Arizona in the late 17th and the 18th cen­

turies followed a pattern similar to that in the rest of that
nation's colonial empire. In order to protect the -already
conquered Mexico, she continued her pu~h toward Cali­
fornia. Previous attempts had been made'to occupy -that

.region by sea. Th~se failed -because of the lack of nearby
bases of supply. It was, therefore, necessary for Spain to-
tiy the more difficult method of controlling the land route.
between Mexico and California through Arizona. Complete
military occupation would have been too expensive. For
these reasons, Spain again resorted to the method which
had proved -so successful in Mexico and her South American
colonies: She employed the mission system to further her
colonial schemes.1

The missionaries were agents of the state as 'well as of
the church. 'Hostile Apache and other Indian tribes ravaged

L Charles Edwar.d Chapman, Colonial Hispanic. America, (Macmillan, New
Yor~, 1933) 99 11'. '-.



EARLY ARIZONA SETTLEMENTS 275

the northwestern limits of New Spain. By making friends
and allies of the peaceful Pimas and Papagos along this
'frontier, Spain planned to form an effective buffer state
against the hostiles.2 It was partially with this object in
view that the Jesuit father, Euse.bio Francisco Kino, made
his entmda in Pimeria Alta in 1687~ And the Spanish gov-

" ernmentas well as the church generously supported him
with both fin"ances and soldiers. " '

Under the leadership of-Father Kino the first Christian
missions were established in Arizona. Missions and visitas
were built along the Santa Cruz Valley at Guebavi, Tuma-

'cacori, San Xavier del Bac, San Cosme del Tucson, San
Agustin de Oil'; ·on the Sonoita a visita was established at
Sonoidag; farther east along the San Pedro visitas were in-.
stituted at Huachuca, Quiburi and Santa Cruz.3 .

The influence of Father Kino was not only spiritmiI iri
character. He started stock ranches to support his, growing
missions. Every domestic plant and animal in Europe was
introduced. Flourishing-ranches. were established of cattle',
horses, sheep and goats. A wide variety of fOQd plants were
cultivated in the fields and gardens.4 Professor Bolton sum­
marizes the work of Kino as a pioneer in the following
:words: "The work which' Father ,Kino did as a ranchman
would alone stamp him as an unusual business man and
make him worthy of remembrance." He was 'easily the cattle
king of his day and regi9n. From a small outfit'" supplied
him from "the older missions to the east and south, within
fifteen years he established the beginning of raJ;lching in the
valleys of San Ignacio, the Altar, the Santa Cruz, the San
Pedro and the Sonoita. . . ." 5

The push of the Spanish to the north,however, was
arrested by aformidable obstacle which" they were never able
to overcome effectively. That was the Apache' Indians.
While they occasionalJy conducted vigorous campaigns

'2. H. E. Bolton, "The Mission as' a Frontier Institution," American Historical
Review, October; 1917, 42 fl'. '

3. ' H. ,E. Bolton; Rim of Christendom, '(Macmillan,N. Y., '1936) From, Map of "
Pima Land,

4. Bolton, "The Mission as a Frontier Institution," 42fl'.•
5. Bolton, Rim of Christendom, 589~
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against 'this trjbe with so~e success, the Apaches continued
to remain a .potential threat preventing Spanish occupation

.a~d settlement of southern Arizona. .
After the death of Father Kino in 1711, the missions

languished in Pimeria Alta (now southern Arizona and
northern Sonora) for about two decades. Then there was
a renewal of activity. New missionaries arrived and the
northern missions were reoccupied. Journies to the Colo­
rado and Gila, began by Kino, were continued with the view
of establishing missions along these rivers.6 .

Under the normal functioning of the Spanish colonial
system, the religious occupation of a locality paved the way
for the civilian colonizer-the stock-raiser and the miner.
The few records of the activities of these two groups in the
18th and'early 19th century are vague, often contradictory
and very confusing. The 18th century wr~iters of Pimeria
Alta indicate that there were some early attempts to occupy
the region by civilian colonists. Venegas implies that in
1720 there were Spanish farms around Guebavi. 7 Father
Sedelmayr wrote that in 1736 various mines .had been dis­
covered near the missions of San Xavier del Bac, Santa
Maria and Guebavi. About eight leagues from the last
mentioned place (near Ariz()nac, Sonora, which is just across
the line from Arizona) was the famous Cerro de las Bolas
mine" . " . in which were found nuggets of virgin silver,
and many arrobas of metal." 8 The difficulties. of the miners
were described as follows: "The various inhabitants have
left there, partly because they' had exhausted the wealth,
partly because of the invasions and killings of the ,enemy
,Apaches, and doubtless because there was' nothing more to
collect and work...."9 Sedelmayr urged the establish­
ment of missions along the Gila and Colorado rivers to hold
back the Apaches who" ... in growing'numbers ... rob

6, H. E. Bolton and Thomas M. Marshall, Col<>nization of N<Yrlh America, (Mae.
millan, N. Y., 1936) 104.

. 7. H. E. Rensch, Chronoiogy of Tumacacori Na.tional Monument, (Berkeley,
California, '1934) 13. . .

8. Jacobo Sedelmayr, Relaciones; translated and edited by Ronald L. Ivee,
Anthropological Papers, No.9, Bulletin 123, U. S. Bureau of Ethnology, (Washing~

ton, D. C.• 1939) 114.
9. Idem.
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and kill in the province of Sonora doing so much damage. to
its settlements that today, because' of their continued in­
vasions, many lands, ranches, haciendas and mines of great
promise .are abaridoned."IO Due to the fear of the French,
the Spanish king in 1744 and. 1747 approved advancing the
frontier to the Gila riverY The Rudo Ema,yo states that
during .this period there was a gold mine and several silver
mines operated near the visita Aribaca; 12 there was a. ran­
cheria at Sopori ;13 along the Sonoita valley was a visita at
Sonoitac.14 The, anonymous author of this book' also men­
tions that .Guebavi haq a few Spaniards living there. 15 .

Under the protection of the presidios small Spanish
settlement~ sprung up near the garrisons and missions.
Mines were al~o operated. The author of the Rudo Emayo
stated that in November, 1762 there were 24 inhabited Span­
ish towns, including fj.ve Spanish forts, mining settlements,
farms and ranches and 174 uninhabited ones in the province
of Sonora.16 Professors Bolton and Marshall claimed that
in the following year there were eight missions and several
Spanish settlements in that province having a total popula-
'tion of 1500 persons,17 . ,

Within a few years, however, the missionary efforts of
the Jesuits were to come to an end. In'1767 the Spanish
monarch decreed the expulsion of this order from all of his
dominions.18 The Franciscans took over the old Jesuit mis­
sions the following year. To Pimeria Alta were sent priests
from the College of Queretaro.19

Due to the rapid advance of the Russians eastward into
Alaska, the Spanish decided in the late 17608 to occupy Alta
California. Cooperating with the Spanish army, the first
mission was established at San Diego in 1769. Others were

10. Ibid.. 113.
11. Bolton and Marshall, op. cit., 304.
12. Rudo Ensayo;translated by Eusebio Guiteras, (American Catholic. Society,

1894) 223.
13. Ibid., 254.
14. Ibid., 223.
15. Ibid.• 254.
16. Ibid., 257.
17. Bolton and Marshall, op. cit., 306.
18.' Cpapman: op. cit., 193.
19. Bolton and Marshall, op. cit., 386
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built i~ succe~sion' farther northward on the coast.' Expe.,
ditions, were made by Francisco Garces of San' Xavier del
Bac' with the v~ew of establis:hirig a land route from Arizona
to CalIfornia. "As a result of Garces' d'iscoyeries, Captain
Anza of Tubac offered to open a land'route to Monterey. In
1774, he was ordered to lead a soldier colony from Sonora
to occupy the port of San Francisco. The following year,
Anza assembled some 250 persons at Tubac. The expedi-

~ tion descended the Santa Cruz and, the Gila to the ,Colorado.
" From here he led his party to Monterey where he arrived

in March, 1776. In' order to safeguard this route it was de­
cided to advance the f:l;'ontiernorth~ardto the 'Gila-Colorado '
junction. Two missions were founded near there among the
Yuma Indians. Instead of, a presidio, ten famiiies were
settled,neareach missioIlto serve as a protectionto the mis­
sioJ;laries. In 1781, the Yumas rebelled· and murdered
Father Garces and' most of the, settlers. Although the In­
dians were punished, this massacre put an end to the efforts
to establish an outpost among 'the Yumas and closed the
Anza route to California.~o

Due largely to the attacks of the Apaches, th~ Spanish
occupation of Arizona at the eIid of the 18th century was
little beyond where'ithad been atthebegfnning. It is true
that there were thriving' settlements around the' walls of

,the presidios of Tubac and Tucson which will be treated
later. 'There were a 'few scattering Spanish ranchos along
the Santa Cruz valley extending from the present interna­
tional boundary to T:ucson. As for the missions, San Xavier,
and 'Tumacacori were the only ones thriving 'as monuments
to the efforts of the Jesuit and Franciscan fathers.

Early Mines

There are many legendary stories regarding the mines
operated in Arizona during the' pre-American period by the
mIssions and miners. Some of these mines, alleged to be
weaithy; were located at Arivaca and Sopori. 'Others were
in the Sant~ Rita',and Patagonia mountains as well ,as along'

20. Ibid.• 884-394. pa8sim.
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the pres~ntinternational,boundary west of Nogales: The
wealth of these has been very much overrated., Bancroft
best summarizes these mining activities as follows:

Of mining operations in Arizona during any
portion of the Spanish or Mexican period, nothing
is practically or definitely known. The records are
barely 'sufficient to show that a few mines were
worked, and that the country was believed to be
rich in silver and gold.... But from 17,90 for
twenty or thirty years .. '. there can be no doubt
that many mines were from tim,e to time profitably
w:orked, though we have no particu.lars, and though
there is no reason to beli,eve that there were any
extensive or wonderfully rich developments. It is
to this p~riod almost exclusively that we must trace
the old workings discovered in later years and also·
all the traditions of lost mines that 'have, anything
other than a purely imaginary fou~dation.21

"

The Pueblos
As did the English along the Atlantic seaboard, the

Spanish bro-qght ~jth them into the 'New Worid their own
type of community organizations; The inhabitants of Span­
ish AmeriGa like their forbears in Europe resided mostly iIi .
towns and villages. This was partly fo'r protectio~. and
.partly for social and religious considerations.

The towns or 'pueblos were .laid out in accordance with .
the laws of the Indies which were passed from tim~to time
for their establishment arid government. 'Under these laws,
the sites selected for pueblos were to be in a healthy spot
with pleasant climate, good water, "and abounding in'wood'
and pasturage, and in the neighborhood of which are many
Indians, who may be taught the doctrine of the holy evange­
lists." Each organized pueblo was to have' at least thirty
inhabitants, each one to have ten breeding cows, four oxen,
one brood mare, one sow, twenty Castillian ewes, six hens
and one cock. House lots and sowing lands were to be dis-'
tributed a~.ong the pueblo settlers.12

. 21.' Hubert Howe Bancroft, History of Arizona and New Mexico, (San Fran-
cisco, 1888) 399-404 passim. ,', . '. .

22. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 207, 46 Cong., £ Sess. by 'John Wassen, U. So Surv'eyor
General of Arizona. From' Law of the Indies, Book rv, T.itle V.
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Four square leagues of land were granted to each pueblo
ip. square or oblong form according' to the topographical
features of the country. The law required that each village
was to be at adistance of at least five leagues from any other
Spanish town. As soon as' it contained at least thirty set­
tlers, a council was established composed of two alcaldes,
six regidores, one synd~co or prosecuting attorney, and one
superintendent of the municipal property. The common
lands containing the woods, pastures, waters, stone quar­
ries, fruit trees, hunting and fishing for common benefit
were marked out. The royal or vacant lands outside the
limits were used in common with other pueblos. Both
building and sowing lots were divided' among the inhabit­
ants.23 The alcaldes supervised the granting of thesein the
name of the king. The Otero and Martinez grants, listed
below, were of these types.

Each pueblo had its plaza, church and juzgado (court
house) around Which the dweilings of the inhabitants were
located.. At a short distance froVl the village were the "mil­
P(1s" or planting .and sowing grounds of the villagers. Re­
mote from these, generally, were the stock haciendas, which
were under the charge of the majordomos or foremen. The
owners resided with their families in the village or town.
Both Tucson and Tubac seem to have had at one time a com-
m~nity organization of this pattern. .

. When the Spanish priests moved into the Indian vil­
lages to establish their missions, they found" many of them
wellorganized and worthy of self-government. The Span~

ish authorities, therefore, gave many' of them the same .
status as .their own towns.24 Each mission pueblo was en- •
titled to a grant of fou~ square leagues. The civil officers
were usually a governor, captain, the alcaldes, andalguac~l,

who by law constituted a cabildo or council. They, in addi­
tion, had a inilitary organization as well. The Indians ad-

, ministered their ownmiss,ion pueblos under the direction
of the padres who in turn might use the restr~ining for.ce of

/ . nearby presidios -to hold their wards in check if necessary.25.
28. Idem.
24. Leslie Byrd Simpson, Many· Mexico., (New York, 1941) 88' If.
25. H. E. Bolton, Wider Horizons of American History, (New York) 145-146.



EARLY ARIZONA SETTLEMENTS 281

Tumacacori in ,the early 19th century appears to have had
this type of organization.

The Presidios
The presidios played as important a role in the Spanish

colonial system as did the mission. Without these garrisons
the missionaries and civilians could not proceed with' the
occupation of a region. Since the soldiers with their, superior
fighting equipment were more than. 'a match for an equal
number of Indians, it was not necessary to maintain a very
large number of soldiers at the presidios. Usually a guard
of one to five or six soldiers was stationed at each of the mis­
sions. These served to keep in check hundreds of mission In­
dians.. Without the'se guards, the missions could not have
survived.26

As a. result of the Pima revolt in 1751, a presidio was
established at Tubac the following year. This was the first
permanent white settlement in Arizona. It served as a .link
in the chain of frontier garrisons of New Spain which
eventually stretched from San Agustin to San Francisco.27

- From 1764 to 1767 and some years later it was under the
command of Juan B. Anza and had a population of nearly
500.28 As a result of the· reglamento and instructions of

, 1772 the presidio was transferred, probably under the :order
Inspector: Hugo Oconer, in 1776 to Tucson.29 This left

_ tpe fewseitlers of the region expos~d to the attacks of the
Apaches. They were prevented-from- abandoning the coun­
try by orders from the government. After sending in many
petitions for more troops,. a company of Pima allies was
organized and stationed there before 1784. Spanish soldiers
were added to the garrison.30

The government of Spain encouraged the permanent
settlement of the region about the presidios; In ord!'lr to
stimulate this by soldiers with families, inducement was
offered for them to marry native women. Under an order

26, Chapman, op, cit.. 97.
27. Bolton. uThe Mission as a Frontier Institution", op. cit., 42.
28. Bancroft, op. cit., 382. .

. 29. Ibid., 381.
30. Ibid., 382-383.
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of Pdro de ,Nava jn 1791, ·the 'intendentes were authorized
, to grant house lots for settlers who might desire them for

Il . residence.', ,A g;ant of four square leagues was given each
presidio:' The captains of the garrisons were permitted to
make grants within these limits. This gave~ to the presidial
establfshnients the character of an incipient pueblo, making,
it a nucleus ,arbund 'which a pueblo might and, frequently
did, aS'in the case of both Tubac and Tucson, grow up.31

In 1881 the Otero Ranch claimed some 400 acres of land
on both sides of the Santa Cruz river about'a mile n~rth of
Tubac'. The original grant was made in 1789 by Dort Nicolas
de laErran, Lieutenant, Commandant' of the Company of·
Pimas at Tubac, to Torbio de Oter,o for a house lot, a tract '
of ,about one-eighth ofa league, and four suertes(farming
lots) of a circumference of 3400 varas. Under the 'terms of
the grant, Otero was req~ired to keep arms and horses' to
defend the country against enemies whenever he was called,
upon to do so: The grant' also specifi~d that until a term
pf four years had passed, the grantee could not sell, alienate
or mortgage the lands nor impose one upon the house. or
lands even though it might be for pious purposes. , ~e was
required to build his house on the land within two years and
reside upon it for four years before, he could acquire posses-'
sion. To prevent the land from passing into the hands 'of
the church, it was specified that Otero should "never be per~
mUted to sell the same to .the 'church or to any, monastery;
ecclesiastical persons or community n~r convey th,em 'in
mortmain.'! Fruit trees or' other kinds of trees of some
utility were, required to ,be planted on the granted lands.32

This grant appears to be the old~st 'one recorded in the Gen­
eral Land office Records at Phoenix.

The historical source material' for Tubac' during the
Mexican period is very fragmentary so no adequate story of
that pl~ce can be given. The lawo,f 1826 provided for a
presidia,l company at ,Tubac as well as Tucson, though in
later 'years the company seems to ,ha,ve been. one of infan-

31., John Wassen, op. cit., 39.40; Matthew G. Reynolds, Spanish and Meo:iclIIn
Land Laws, (Santa Fe, 1895) 25 If. _ .

32. ,Journo,l of Priv;"te Land, Grants. In five volumes in'manuscript form. Gen··
eral Land Office" Phoenix, Arizona. Afterward ahbreviated JPLG, 3',27 if.
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try.33/ The Land· Ofl).ce records indicate that by 1838 Tubac
had assumed the ,status of a pueblo under the'Mexican laws.
It was governed by municipal rather than military authori­
~ies. Its land grant, in the meantime, had been enlarged
to nine square leagues.34 , '

A part of the land included in the Otero Ranch, men­
tioned above, was that which had be.en given to Jose Maria
Martinez. In a petition add:r.:essed,to the JustiCe of Peace of
Tubac, Don'Trinidad Yrig9yeri, Martinez in. 1838 stated that
he, had purchased ,a lot ,of ground from the 'justice. He
asked, therefore, that measurements be made for his secur­
ity; Official measurers were appointed and a r~ctangular'

lot 700 varas long and i 75 varas wide, was surveyed. The
~~nditioris of this grant were 'substantially the same as
those made Otero' almost fifty, yearsb~fore., One of the
terms which reflected upon the state of affairs at that time
wa~ that Martinez was to ,be always ready to march against'
,the ,enemy when called uponto do so and to give such mili-,
tary services as was required of him on account of' the
scarCity of regular soldiers.35

, The ,lands· given to Martinez and Otero were occupied
continu·ously by the grantees and their descendants down to
1880 except at times when they were driven away byhos­
tile Indians.

At the time the presidio was transferred from Tubac
_to Tucson in 177'6, the Indians were quartered in a little'
pueblo adjoining it called San Agustin de Tucson. The pre- .
sidio at this time was called San Agustin'., According to the
historian Bancroft, "Annals of this place are blank for years,
and practically so down to 1846, since we know only by
occ~sional mention tha~ the pr.esidio maintained its exist­
ence; that the garrison numbered in officers and men; about
106 meh, though' the ranks were often not full; and that
there were frequent complaints of inadequate arrtis, ammu."
nition and other supplies."36 The population of Tucson and
theadjoiriing districts for this period is estimated to have

33. Bancroft, op. cit.. 382-382.
34. JPLG,3 :35.

'35. JPLG. 3 :38 If. '
'36. 'Bancroft,'op. cit., 381.
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been about 2,000 including the families of soldiers.3T On:
account' of the frequent Apache raids the few remaining
ranches in the Santa Cruz valley were abandoned in the last
decade of the Mexican regime. ' Often livestock was driven
off under the very wans of the presidios. A cen'sus report
of September 1848 reveals that the population of Tucson at
that time was 760 while Tubac had 249 inhabitants.38 In
December of that year after an attack, Tubac and Tumaca:-

. cori were abandoned. The people transferred to Tucs,on.39

_One of the interesting cases arising out of the exodus
from Tubac to Tucson was the Martinez grant.' Jose Maria
Martinez was a Mexican soldier who had been garrisoned at
Tubac. As a result of the destruction of that presidio, Mar­
tinez and others fled to the pueblo of San Xavier. By vir­
tue of the laws of Sonora of February 4, 1851, the state de­
clared that each of the immigrants should be giveJ). a plot
of sowing grounds in the vacant and uncultivated lands of
the missions of San Xavier and Tucson for their subsistence.
Martinez, in the same year, petitioned for land' under this
law and asked for a title. Ignacio Saens, Justice of the Pre-

, sidio of Tucson, then caned a meeting of all the Indians of
San Xavier Pueblo. Here Martinez' petition for a grant of
land and for the right to pasture his stock ~n the common
lands of the mission was approved. The Indians agreed to
a grant of land of 400 by 500 varas. 'The tract was accord­
ingly measured and a title issued Martinez by the Justiee on
the terms similar to those of Otero and Martinez at- Tubac,
listed above. 40

, After the Americans acquired this land under the Gads­
den Treaty of 1853 'and 1854, the Martinez claim became the
test case' for th'eSan Xavier Indians. The Indians were'
recognized as Mexican citizens under the Treaty, and were
living within the pueblo communities. They were without
formal titles to their lands. 41

37, Idem,
38, Bancroft. op, cit" 474, 475,
39, Idem,
40, JPLG, 4 :82 ft,
41. Idem,
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The Spanish and Mexican Land Grants
The two chief industries in Arizona i'n the Spanish and

Mexican periods, as in the American era, were stock-raising
and mining. As has been stated earlier, l~ttle is definitely
known regarding the extent of the mining operations prior
to the 18th century.
_ '.Indian attacks had caused most of the' rancherias

around the missions and the visitas, established by Father
Kino and his successors in the,18th century, tobe abandoned.
Little is known of the Spanish ranchos other than -a few
vague references since they' did not have titles from the
Spanish government. It maybe concluded that these 18th
centu'ry rancheros too ,were forced to withdraw southward
out of· present, Arizon'a on account of the Indian incursiQns.

The period from 1790 to 1820, however, was one of
comparative peace and prosperity for the remaining mis­
sions and the ,ranchos of PimeriaAlta. This may be ac­
counted for in- part to the effective work of the Spanish gar­
risons in policing the region. In addition the Apaches were,
on'the whole, at peace under treaties by which the' govern.;
ment bribed them by food and gifts. As a result, the missions
and the frontier rancheros counted their possessions by the
thousand.!' So great became their herds that they found it
necessary to push northward. This was a part of a great
movement in that direction all along the northern frontier of
New'Spain. They pushed into Texas, New Mexico, Arizona
and California and_ gave the foundation to the great cattle
industry of the United States which was to play such an im­
portant partin the history of the West.

During the latter part of the Spanish regime, these
stock-raisers began to seek grants of land from the govern­
ment. They continued to petition for additional lands until
the late 1830s and early 1840s from the Mexican authorities.

. Through these expedientes and titulo's one is able to get
some' clue to who they were and the extent of their opera­
tions. In the 1830s these rancheros carried on very exten­
sivestock-raising activities all along the present interna;.,

.. . ,

1. Hubert Howe Bancroft, North Me",ican States and Te",as, 1801-1889,' (San
Frarcisco, 1889) 750~751.
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tionai boundary as far north as.Tucson. . Along the Santa
Cruz valley were the Ortiz brothers at Canoa and Aribaca;'
farther south at Buenavista. was the ranch of the Tuveras; .
at San Rafael de la Sanja the herds of the Romeros ranged.
On the S.onoita was the hacienda of the Herreras. family.
Still farther east along the San Pedro valley and its tribu-

, taries were the vastholdings Of the Elias (Gonzales) family.
hi the extreme southeastern part of present Arizona and

. extending well into 'modern Sonora was the famous, San.
Bernardino ranch of the perez family. These rancheros .not,
only held the land granted them by the Spanish and Mexi­
can governments, but th~ir' numerous herds of stock grazed
ov'erhirgetracts of "overplus"2hinds.which they controlled..

Mexico became indepEmdent from Spain in 1821. The
laws regarding the granting of land, nevertheless, remained
fundamentally the same under the Mexican regime as under,
the earlier Spanish rule. Under the Law·of the State of the
West (comprised uniil 1830 the present states of Sina'loa,.

,Sonora and.southern Arizona) of May 20, 1825,3 the amount
of land granted to one ,stock-raiser was_ limited to four
square leagues 4 unless he could prove that due to the abund­
anceof ,his stock he needed more;5 The' h:md was graduated
'Fees.. for surveyors and appraisers were fixed by law. .

The procedure for making 'grants also remained su.b-·
stlintially the same under the two regimes. ,Under the pro­
visional law of the State of the West,' the lands were to be
according to its quality and a minimum pdce placed onit.6

'2. While most of the grants in Arizona specified a certain amount of lands. the
descriptions of their boundaries were by natural bO,undaries or between certain limits.
Actually, the grantees usuallY occupied lands far in excess of that 'stipuliated in the
terms of the gran~s.- These were known as "overplus.'.' .Under the Mexican' laws.
title could be acquired for tbe ,overplus' by having it surveyed and paying into the
treasurY the price- which prevailed when the original grant' was appraised. Later
American pnrcha,sers of them claimed -a right to_ the overplus alsol by -paying over -to
the government the appraised prices of the original grants.

" 3, Reynolds, 0'1',' cit" 129-131. .
4, A sitio or square league C<lntains 4,338.464 acres,
5, 'The applicant wag required to submit' proof that he was a stock-breeder be-

fore he was.entitled to a grant. .
6. Reynolds, 01'. cit" 163, Undcr this law: '(1) for. each dry sitio that can

serve only' for· the, pasturing of stock, $10; (2) for those where ,water can he ob­
tained. $30; (3) for' those which have ,,' spring or river, $60. This' price was' in­

'creased under the decree 'of Juiy II, 1834, of the state of So~ora.·
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surveyed, valued and' published for thirty days by the public
crier in solicitation for, bidders; at the end of, that time at
public auctions which were held for three consecutive days,
they were finally sold to the highest bidder. Under this
lliw the treasurer general occupied the same position under
the',state government in granting lands.as did theintendente
under the Spanish government. All titles were issued by
him; The grants, 'however, did not require the apprQval
of the Supreme Government. 7 The Constitution ,and laws
of 1824 gave the states the, power to appropriate lands to

"hidividmils. L~ter under the Constitution 'of 1836 the states
lost this power as it was reserved to the Supreme Govern­
ment of Mexico:s

Most of the titulos issued'bythe Spanish and Mexican
governments contained essentially the same provisions. All
of them required the grantees to.' erect monuments on the
boun.daries of mortar' and stone. To prevent the abandon-,
ment of the' granted land, with few exceptions, all provided
that if the land was abandoned for a period of three years
or, longer, it should r.evert to the public domairf; exception
was made iIi case the invasion of ,enemies or as sometimes
stated "Apache" or "hostile Indians" we~e the cause of the
abandonJ?-ent. These' grants conveyed in addition to the
ownership and possession of the soil itself, "all its rights,
uses, customs, servitudes, timbers, woods, pastures, springs
and watering places and other things thereunto belonging."9
In, no cases were mineral rights given.

, Grants. made by the various Mexican states or depart­
ments were' 6f three types. First, th~re were grants by
specifi~ boundaries' in which the donee was, entitled to 'all
of the land described; ~econd, grants 'by quantitywhetein
the grantee was en"titled tria specific amount of land, e. g"
four s~tios'within a larger tract as described by outbound­
aries; third, where the recipient was entitled to a tract

_according to the limits, as shown by its settlements and pos­
.session or other comp~tent evidence. lO As it will be seen,

7, JPLG, 1 :113-114.
8. Corpus Juris, (New York, 1930) 50 :1203-1206. .
9. Copy of titulo 'to San Rafael de la'Sanja Grant,"JPLG. 1 :415 ff.

,10. 'Hornsby vs, United StaU:s. 77 U. S" 224.' -

c '
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a large number "of grants in what is now southern" Arizona
"were of the last two classes. These ambiguities in descrip­

tion' were to cause a great deal of controversy and litigation
later.

It is significant that the Spanish and Mexican rancheros
of the early 19th century who pushed into the San Pedro,

,Sonoita and Santa Cruz valleys reoccupied many of the lands
and sites where the missionaries the century before had
established visitas and rancherias. Their predecessors had
been forced to abandon them on account of the hostile
Apaches. These ~ancheros'-were to suffer the same fate.
Had it not been for the hostile Indians along the northwest­
ern frontier, it is quite possible that the cattlemen would
have continued their push northward and changed the course
of Arizona's early history.

Most writers maintain that after Mexico had secured,
its independence there was a sudden abandonment of south­
ern Arizona due to Indian attacks. It is true that with the
degeneration of the presidial system" under the Mexicans
the raids of the Apaches increased in intensity.

Along the Santa Cruz,valley, most of the petitions for
land grants were filed during the period from 1820 to 1833,
although the Los Nogales de ,Elias grant was filed as late
as 1841. Tubac, according to Bancroft, maintained a weak
presidio,uThis garrison and town were abandoned in 1848
on account of Indian attacksJ2 These facts would indicate,
in the opinion of the writer, that during the 1820s the rav­
ages of the Apaches were not so severe as generally believed
as rancheros would not have sought to move into a region
where their herds of stock would have met certain dissolu­
tion and destruction. The deterioration of the presidial sys­
tem increased in the 1830s and 1840s on account of the civil
wars in Sonora. The culmination was reached in 1848 and
in the following years when Tubac and all of Arizona was
abandoned by the Mexicans with the exception of Tucson.
This may be attributed in part, to, the.wi.thd~awal of soldiers
to fight in the war against the United States and the exodus

11. Arizona and New Meo:ico, 381-382 Footnotes.
12. Ibid., 474-475.

• I
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of settlers to the California gold fields. Before 1852, a small
detachment of Mexican soldiers reoccupied Tubac.13 What
available records exist indicate that in 1854; when the
American government acquired title to southern Arizona by
the Gadsden Treaty, all the. white settlements in Arizona
had been' abandoned except those at Tucson and' Tubac.14

The history of the 19th century settlements along tl).e
San Pedro valley is different in many respects from 'those
along the Santa Cruz. With one exception, the petitions for
these grants were filed in the period from 1820 to 1831 in.,.
clusive. This too would indicate the Apache raids were per- ,
haps not so serious in the 1820s.The petition for one huge
projected grant, the Tres Alamos, for 58 sitios' was filed' in,
1831 with theSonoran government by nine promoters. The
proceedings for this grant were stopped by' the Apache
raids.15 Since no more, petitions were filed after this date .
it might be inferred that after this time the Indian raids'dis­
couraged further settlements. While no records exist other
than the descriptions of the ruined buildings on these grarits
by travelers through this valley in the late 1840s and early
1850s, these accounts indicate the operations of these San
Pedro rancheros were very larg,e. Two families, the Elias
(Gonzales) and Perez, appear to have had very extensive
holdings. The latter family's rancho extended, for the most

'part into Sonora. These early writers relate seeing large,
herds of wild horses, cattle and mules, descendants of those
left, by the early rancheros in their haste in fleeing 'before
the Apaches. The abandonment of this valley seems to have
been complete. No attempt was made to reoccupy it until
in t}1e 1870s and 1880s. , .

The Spanish and Mexican larid' grants were to offer
some very complicated problems and it 'was not until after
the end of the 19th century that they were, solved. By the
Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo of 1848 and the Gadsden Pur-,.
chase several years later, Arizona became Ameri~an Terri-
tory. Only the latter treaty affected that part of Arizona

13. Ibid., 474-475.
, ',14. Peter Kitchen, Sen. Ex, Doc. No. 93, 48 Cong.• 1 8ess., 47-48. Land Office

Reports (1887) .. 26-27. These will hereafter be abbreviated LOR.
15, JPLG, 4 :889. .
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where.the grants were lo¢ated; It stipulated'that before they
should be approved by tpe'American government, evidence'
of' the 'titles should be found )~"·the Mexican archives;16
Under the machinery: set" up by Congress,H it became the
duty of the surveyor general of the territory to investigate
these claims and report upon their validity to', the secretary
of interior., The 'secretary in turn was to submit these re­
ports to Congress for. final action. By, 1888, 13 of these
grants had been examined and reported upon favorably 'by,
the surveyor general arid two unfavorably. IS . Congress,.

, however, had not passed upon any of them. .
During the. period imm:ediatelyfollowing' the acqu~si­

tioil of this region by the United States, the Apache attacks
.were so severe that there was little thought of reoccupying
any of these lands. ,Little or no value was attached to them
by the original grantees or their heirs. After the- Apaches
were brought under control in the '1'870s and ,1880s, settlers
again poured "into the San Pedro, Sonoita and Santa Cruz
valleys. They discovered to their disappointment that many
of the choicest tracts were held by absentee owners and

.withheld' from, settlement by virtue' of these old g"J,:ants.
S'peculators, largely from California, had ·so~ghtout these
Mexican grantees and their heIrs and had bought up their
rights fill' a mere song.' These claims amounted 'to" over.
5,000,000 acres and the owners were waiting,for ~n oppor-

, tune moment,to present them to Congress for approval,l9
Congress, after many :y-ears of ~ontinued 'pressure" in

1891 established the Court of, Private Land' Claims to pass
upon the validity 9f these grants in the territories Of Ari­
zona and New Mexico 'that it had not already acted upon
under the provisions ,of the former·law. The examination.
and'untangling of ,these claims ,and rendering equitable de­
cisions upon them was a tremendous task for the court.
Under the original act, the court was to terminate in 1895.
Actually, it continued in existence until June 30, 1904.20

16. United States Statutes at Large, t"0 :922, 929.'
17. Ibid .. 10 :80S,; 16 :804.
IS." LOR" (1SSS) 894-895.
iii. LOR i 1S87) 524-525. .
20. CorpUs Juris, 50 :1240; UnitedStateil Statutes at Large;'26 :S5.4.

'.
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Many of its decisions were appealed to the Supreme Court.:
Perhaps the most·famous one passed upon was the PeraIta­
Reavis claim for almost 13,000,000 acres which the Attorney
General of the United States characterized as. "... prob­
ably the greatest-fraudever'attempted a'gainst,a government '.
in its. own courts... ."21 ,

When the' Court of Private Land 'Claims completed its
work in 1904, of the 282 cases decided, it confirmed titles to

; 1,934,986 acre~of ~ total of 34,653,341 ac'res claimed in New
: Mexico and Arizona or about six percent. 'Of that amount,

titles in Arizona·,to ..116,540 acres of land were confirmed
out of a total of 837,680 acr,es claimed.22 So after fifty
years, th~ problem of the settlement of the Spanish and
Mexican 'land claims was brought to a: clos~.

The· Tumacacori and Calabasas Grants
The Tumacacori grant is probably the olde~t large

grant made in Arizona. During most of the' 18th century
Tumacacori was a visita of Guebavi. . In 1784, it became the
main mi~sion while. Caiabasas and Gue.bavi were made·visi­
tas. The two latter places were finally abandoned about the
close of the century due to the attacks of the Apaches... .

The expediente sets forth that the lands belonged to the
mission by ~ight of "legal, public and financial 'purchase
from, their' primitive owners." The docume~ts relating to
the purchase of them hadbeen.in the possession of Don Leoti
Carrera, political judge of' that' jurisdiction. They had,
however, been lost or destroyed. Juan Legarra, the gov­
ernor of the Indians, and' other principal natives of the
pueblo of Tumacacori,_ therefore, in 1,806 petitioned the gov­
ernor, intendente. and judge privativo, Don Alexo Garcia
Conde, to take the necessary steps to issue them a new grant.
The India!ls asked for four sitios. for sowing purposes
(Iundo legal) and in addition land for stock-raising (estan­
cia), which was to include that of the old mission of Gue.:.

21. Report 'of the Attorney' General, (1895) 17-18.
22•. Report of the Attorney General, (1904) 100 If. Final Rep'ort of Private

Land Claims. June SO. ,1904. This does not include the Peralta-Reavis claims which
was submitted to the New Mexico district for examination.
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. bavi,23 The. boundaries on the south were described as the
. Rancho of. Buel'lavista 24 which was owned by the Romeros

and the Yerbabuena.25 , The commandant of the presidio of
Tubac, Don Manuel de Leon, appointed other officers and
completed a part of the measurement of these lands.26 The
Indians of the pueblo, however, considered the lands
measured them were inadequate. Stating that "The stock
cattle and horses of Tumacacori are increasing each day.
through the industry of the natives under the direction of
its present minister, Rev. Fray Narciso Guitierrez," they
asked that the lands of the abandoned pueblo of-Calabasas
be given them for a stock farm. 27 A title was accordingly
issued them for all the lands petitioned for in 1807. Itcon­
tained a provision that if the' grant should become totally
abandoned for a period of three years, it should be given
to anyone who might claim the lands.28

, The last three decades of Spanish rule in Pimeria Alta
was the golden age for the remaining missions. After inde­
pendence was achieved in 1821, most of them were aban­
doned, perhaps in the late 1820s, the 1830s and early 1840s.

The general abandonment of the missions along the
northwestern .frontier of Mexico may be'attributed to sev­
eral causes. During the three decades following independ­
ence, Sonora was in a state of chaos. It was torn asunder
by civil wars between first the Gandara-Urrea and later by
.the Gandara-Pesquiera factions. A part of the time the
state was in' rebellion against the national government. It
appears that the mission lands and property ",ere appfqpri­
ated in one way or another by the Mexican political leaders.
Coupled with the civil wars was the constant raids of the
Apaches which increased in the 1830s and 1840s,

While the frontier missions were encouraged by the
Spanish, the legislation of the Mexican government became

23. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 207. op. cit., 18-24.
24. This may have been the abandoned ranch described in the Buena Vista-grant.

In/ra, 66:. • . .. '.

25. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 207, op. cit., 18-24.
26. Ibid., 21: 22.
27, Ibid., 24.
28. ibid., 25-26.
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increasingly oppressive. In 1833, the Mexican congress de­
clared education should be free, lay'and obligatory.. Church
officers "were to be appointed by the national government.
The collectionof church tithes was suppressed and the civil,
obligation of monastic oaths annulled.29 In the following
year the missions of the Republic were declared secularized
and were ordered to be converted into curacies.30 Finally,
on February 10, 1842, Santa Anna, the Mexican dictator,
decreed the sale of temporallands.31

The fate of, the Tumacacori mission seems to have been
much the same as many of the frontier missions in Pimeria
Alta in that period. The time of its abandonment remains a
matter for conjecture. The expediente of the Los Nogales
de Elias grant indicates that Tumacacori was a functioning
pueblo having a governor and a priest, Antonio Gonzales,
as late as November, 1841.32 On April 19, 1844, the mission
lands were sold' at public auction under the law of February
10, 1842, to Don Francisco Aguilar, a brother-in-law of Gov­
ernor Gandara, for $500.33 Couts, a traveler, 'described the
mission in October, 1848, as standing in a group of conical
Indian huts. The image~, pictures and fixtures 8til} , re­
mained.34 Bancroft states that Tumacacori and Tubac were

, aban,donedin December of that year as the result of an In­
dian attack36 Cox in September and Hayes in December ,of
1849 speak of the mission as being deserted. 36 Bartlett,. in
1852, wrote that Tumacacori "... had lately been aban­
doned in consequence of the incursions of the Apaches."a7
All C?f these statements indicate that someone was probably
living at Tum'acacori until late in 1848 although it had been
some time since.it had been actively functioning as a mission.

Aguilar, evidently, purchased the mission lands in be­
half of his brother-in-law, Governor Manuel Gand,ara,who

29, H. I. Priestly, The Mexican Nation, (Macmillan, N. Y., 1923) 270.
30. Reynolds. op. cit., 185. . '
31. Ibid., 239. Decree of February 10, 1842.
32. JPLG: 2 :381 fI.
33. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 207, op. cit.. 27.
34. Rensch, op. cit., 40-41.
35. Arizona and New Mexico,474-475.
36. Rensch, op. cit., 42. • .,' ,
37. John Russell Bartlett, Narrative 0/ Exp1.O-r~ti~J7I.8 and Experience8 .in Texa8.

New 1'1exico, S01I.ora and Chihuahua, (New York, 1354) 2 :~02 fI. '
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was very active in politics in Sonorain 18~4. Gandara'occu-'
'pied the ranch in the 1850s. He had tliousands of head of
sheep, erected substantial buildings and carried on 'very ex-

- tensive operations.38 ' Ih 1865 and formally ill-1869, Aguilar
d,eeded the lands to Gandara .for $499. 39 In 1878, the latter
sold his claims to C. P. Sykes of San Francisco fOl'- $12,500.40

In the same year Sykes sold three-sixteentps ,(3/10) inter'est
in the grant to John Curry for $9,000:41 Sykes amJ Curry

- then proceeded to, secure congressional sanction for their
'rights. The matter was presented before the surveyor gen.:.
eral. of Arii'ona in 1879. The following year that officer ap­
proved theirclaims for 52,007 acres.42 Since -Congress took
no action, the owners .presented their petition' before the
Court'ofPrivate ,Land Claims seeking confirmatio~of
81,350 acres'.43 , This court- refused to recognize their right
to-a title. Th'~ owners then appealed to, the Supreme Court.
Here, the decisiop of the lc;>wer court was' sustained. The
'proceedings of the M;e:x;ican government in selling the lands
,/ .' -, .

in 1844 was declared illegal; also, the treasurer of the de,..
part~ent of Sonora had no right to sell the mission lands to
Aguilar.44 , .

The Canoa Grant-
- "La Canoa" was per4aps, first described in the diary of

Padre Pedro Font in 1775 as being located five leagues
north~northwest of the ,Presidio Of Tubac., It is the pJace
that tlie Anzaexpedition stopped·at the end of its first day's'
journ~y to what, is now San Francisco.45

In September, 1820, Tomas and Ignacio Ortiz; residents
of the military post of' Tubac, petitioned the governor and. , /' ~'.

intendente, Antonio Cordero, of the provinces of Sinaloa and
.Sonora asking for a grant of land called "la Canoa." This
place is described 'as being located about five leagues north
of Tuoac.. They requested a grant of four sitios on which

38. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 207, op. cit., 34.
39: 'fbid" 29.
40. fbid.,· 31.
41. Ibid., 32.

,42. fbid. .
43•. Report .of the' Attorney .General, (1904 j 95.
44. William Faxon et'al. vs.'United·States, 171 U: S., 242 If.
45. H. E. Boiton, Font's Compiete Diary (Berkeley, 'California. 193T)- 26.
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they proposed to stock with cattle' and, horses. These
brothers asked, further, that the commanding officer at
Tubac be authorized to proceed with the measurement, ap­
praisement and other proceedings preliDlinary to securing a
title.46

" The governor and intendente, accordingly, authorized
, Commandante Gonzales of the garrison to proceed with the'
measurements of the lands. In July, 1821, Gonzalesap-,
pointed-officers and ordered them to make the measurements
and ,survey. His account describes Canoa as "containing a
vast tract or ground in' ~hich the Santa Cruz runs. During
the rainy'seasons when from its sides, 'little' streams carry
water'to it. On '~ccount of the' rains it has water, otherwise
not. Its vast extent is covered by' shrubs, as mesquites,
china trees, tamaJ;"isks', palo verdes, giant ,cactus and very
few cottonwooqS and willows.",' The 'land measured, f~l- "
lowed along the highway 'toward Tucson. On the north the'
boundaries reached a place called "Sag~afita where there
exists a plant of this tree" ; on the west for about five leagues
was the Mission of San Xavier del Bac; the southern boun­
daries w,as the military post of Tubac.47

The lqcal' authorities, .after making the measurements,
proceeded to take all the other necessary proceedings to
alienate the land. The 'appraisers valued the land 'at $30
per sitio or $1.20 since it did not contain running water but '
"such could be obtained by digging a wel1." By order, the
30' days publications of the sale began July 12, 1821, at
Tubac. On the :last day of these Reverend F. Juan Ban'o,
curate of the mission of San Xavier appeared in behalf of
Ygriacio Sanches and ,Maria Francisco Flores of that place
and the bid on the land 'was, raised to $210. The proceedings
were sent to the governorintendente at the capitol at Arispe '
for approval. After he, and the attorney general of the
treasury passed upon them, Governor' lntendente Busta­
mente authorized the three final auctions of the land be held
at the capitol December 13, 14, and 15, 1821. '

, At the final auction, no bidders appeared atthe ,first and

46. JPLG, 1 :339, If.
47. Ibid.
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'second auctions; At the third, however, competitors ap­
peared and the land was finally struck off to the Ortiz­
brothers for' $250; This amount plus the other costs and
taxes were paid into the royal.treasury.. The records of
the proceed.ings were forwarded to the supreme office of
public lands for its approval. At this time Mexico was
undergoing its separation from Spain. No testimonio of
title was ever issued the brothers from the Spanish govern­
ment. In 1849 they presented themselves in Dres and asked
that the Sonoran government issue them a title for their
protecti~n.48 ' .

Canoa had a gory history during the outbreak of the
Chiricahuas in the 1860s. Professor Lockwood relates that

.in 1861 two Americans and a Papago Indian were· killed at
the Canoa Inn.50 Farish tells the story of the murder of ten
lumbermen there about that time. These men had been
employed in whipsawing lumber in the Santa Ritas for the
Heintzelman mines. On this raid the Apaches carried off
280 head of animalidrom'the Canoa and adjoining ranches.51

Pete Kitchen, famous Indian fighter, had a ranch on the
Canoa from 1855 to 1862.52 '

Half interest in this grant was acquired by Frederick
Maish and Thomas Driscoll, purchasers of the Buena Vista

.- claims, from the Ortiz heirs. Confirmation of the title was
recommended by the surveyor .general of Arizona u~der the
laws of 1854 and 1875. Congress took no aCtion on the rec­
ommendation. The matter was brought before the Court of
Private Land Claims in 1893.53 The amount ~laimed by the
petitioners was 46,696.2 acres which was' considerably more
than the' four sitios originally granted. This amount was
confirmed to theowners.54 The case was appealed to the
Supreme Court by the government in 1898. Here the decis­
ion of the lower tribunal was reversed and the title of the

48. Ibid.
50; Frank Lockwood, The Apa.che Indians,. (New York, 1939).109.•--­

. 51; Thomas E. Farish, History of Arizona, (Phoenix, 1915) 2 :54-56.
52. Kitchen's testimony, Sen. Ex. Doc. No; 93, op. cit., 47 ff.
53. Clearance Docket, Court of' Private Land Claims, (General Land Office,

Phoenix) 12..
54. Report of the Attorney General, (1896) 27.
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. claimants was confirm~d to only 17,203 acres or slightly less
than the four square leagues originally granted.55

. Buena Vista Grant
(Rancho De Maria Santissima Del Carmen)

Jose Tuvera, a citizen of Arispe, on September 30, 1826,
petitioned the treasurer general of the State of the West in
behalf of his father-in-law, Don Josefa Morales, for four
square leagues of land for stock-raising. The land re­
quested was for the "ancient abandoned place of .Maria San­
tissinia Carmen," a part of which is now in Arizona and a
part In Sonora. On the north boundaries of the land sought
was the old ~ission grant, of Calabasas; on the south was
Rancho .Santa Barbara.

In November of the same year the second alcalde of
Arispe was authorized to take' the necessary steps prelimi­
nary to holding public auctions for the land. In October,
1827, measurements were made. The lands were valued .by
the appraisers at $190, or $60 for three- of the sitios with
water and $10 for the fourth: In the following month, from
N~vember 1 to 30 inclusive; they were publicly offered for
.sale each day.56

The proceedings were then referred to the treasurer
general for approval October 21, 1830. When they were in
turn examined by the attorney general as to their legality,
the measurements were declared to be in error and the sur­
vey not made in accordance to the law. That officer, there­
fore, ordered the defects corrected. A resurvey was made.
and 'subsequently approved by him.57

Three public offers of sale were made early in Sep­
tember, 1831, and the land was sold on the last date to Don
.Josefa Morales. A title was accordingly issued September
9 'of the same year by 'Treasurer' General Jose Mendoza

55. United States vs..Frederick Maish and Thomas Driscoll•. et oJ.. 171 U, S.
242.

56. JPLC. 4 :21 If.
. 57. Idem.
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under the act of May 20, 1825;58 .andunder the usual terms
of the grants of that period.50 ' ,

Th~ land 'was occupied by Tuvera and his heirs until
'1851 when they were sold to Hilari() Gablando. In '1872
Jose Maria, Quiroga purchased the tract for $500. It was
finally bought by Frederick Maish and Thomas Driscoll,
who owned half interest in theCanoa claims, -in 1881-for
$4,000. These owners pressed fora confirmation of their
title by the American government. The 'mat,ter was re;­
ferred to the, general land office and in -1882 the surveyor'­
general, John Wassen, recommended that their claims be
confirmed.' They later appealed to the, Court of Private'
'La~dClil;ims. Here title was confirmed to, 5,733 of the
17;354'acres claimed.6°A 'motion to appeal the case to the

, SilpremeCourt was dismissed: '

The San ~ose De Sonoita Gran(
Sonoita, earlier called Sonoitag and Sonoitac, was one

of the early visitasestablishedby Padre Kino in Arizona
along the river of the same name,61 alth'ough there is very
little mention of this pla~e in later accounts. It was men­
tion'ed by- th~ author of the RudQ Ensayo in'1762 as being a
visita of Guebavi and Reyes' reportjn 1772.62 According to
Bancroft it was abandoned before 1784 but the name was'
still retained.6,3 ' .. '

Don Leon Herreras" a ranchero, and resident of'Tubac,
inJ821 found his herds of cattle were fncreasing,s() fast that
he had, no adequate place to pastl,tre them. He, i~' May of
that year, therefore, addressed a petition to' Juan Miguel
Riesgo, commissary geheralof the treasury.,. etc., of the State
of the West for two sitios ,of land at'a place known as

'Sonoita. 'This 'place is described in the petition as, being 10­
catedabout, eight leagues distant from Tubac "which had_
b~en anciently an Indian town and was abandoned by reason

58;' V ide Supra, 8.
50. JPLG, 4 :21 If.
60. Report of Attorney General, (1004) 109, Buena Vista files. GLO. PhOenix.
6'1. Bolton, Rim of Christendom, ,Map of Pima L'and, 594.'
62: 'Rudo' Ensayo; 223.. Robert H: Rose, Southwestern Monuments Monthly Re-

ports,Deeember, 1936, 427. '
63. History ''!f Arizona and New Mexico, 884-885.
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of the incursions' oft'heApache I~dians, being stationed
very near their customary hiding places." He asked that the

'commissary general institute the nec'essary proceeding to
obtain a- title. ',This petition was then transmitted to the
governor intendenfe.64

An order' was accordingly issued to Ygnacio Elias Gon­
zales, LieutenaI!t Commander and Subdelegate of the Mili": '
tary Post 'at Tubac to appoint the necessary officials to
measure and appraise the two sitios.· The center of the sur­
vey was the old San Jose de Sonoita mission. The survey
was completed in june, 1821, for 13,4sitios. 'Appraisers were

,appointed and the lan,ds wete valued at $'60 per square'
league, since they had running water and were fit for culti-,
vation.. They were then published for 30 days as 'the law
required. The expediente was then examined and approved
by the' promoter fiscal.; three public offers were made in
November, 1821; and the lands were sold 'to Herreras.- The _. '
sale was then approved by the intendente pro tem of Sonora
and Sinaloa, Ignacio Bustamente;'as valid. Herreras pai~f

the .$105 plus the customary 18% taxfor land fee, plus 2%
for the gene~al fund, and $3.00 general fee, as- the -SpaI!ish
law requir~d into the royal treasury. These proceedings ­
were then 'reported' t<? the Spanish· "junta superior de

.hacieI)da." 65 .

A title was issued in May, 1825, to Herreras by Juan
'Miguel Riesgo, CommIssary'General of Mexico for the State
of the West. It contained the usual provisions that the

,grantee was to erect monuments of stone and mortar on the
outboundaries. 'One' provision is unusual in this title., It.
conta.ined a prOVISO that if the owners should abandon, the
lands for a period of- one' year or. more,' they should ,revert
to the public domain.66 Another unusual feattir.e of this
grant w~s that "it was under the Spanish Act ~If 1754 put in
the name of the_ Sovereign State of Mexico. At the date of
this grant the system of grantin~ lands under the Act .of the

64. 1PLG. 1: 297 ff,
65. Ibid.
66. In most grants the period was for three years.
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Mexican Congress and the Provisional Regulations of 1825
had not been organized.67 '

The Apaches, who had for the previous three or four
decades been comparatively peaceful in this region, began
to make raids after 1821. These attacks increased up to
about 1835 when the settlers became discouraged and aban­
doned their homes. The Herreras family were driven from
the grant by them in 1833 and again in 1836. In 1857, the
heirs, sold their interest in the lands.68 After several trans­
fers, they were finally acquired by Matias Alsna, who sub­
mitted his' claim to the land office for approval. The sur~
veyor general of Arizona, after examination, recommended
the 'title be confirmed but Congress took no action on it.
Afte~ the claims were examined by the Court· of Private'
Land Claims in 1892, they were rejected. The matter was

· I'. . •
· then appealed to the Supreme Court in 1898. In the hIgher
tribunal the decision of the lower court was reversed and the
case was remanded with directions to determine the true
boundaries.69 The amount of land finally, confirmed to the
Sonoita claimants was 5,123 acfes.70

El Sopori Grant
El Sopori is another of the old and famous place names

in Arizona. It is mentioned in 1762 by the author of Rudo
Ensayo in 1762. He described it as a depopulated ranch lo­
cated more than two leagues north of the presidio of Tubac.71

· This place had been abandoned in 175t on account of, the
, ' reyolt 6f the Pima Indians. 72 .

- The ranch in the 1860s was a strip of some 140,QOO
acres located south of the San Xavier mission. ' According
~o the alleged documents issued by the Mexican government
and submitted by the claimants to the American govern- .
m~nt, the original grant to this land was made by the Sono­
ran government to Joaquin Astiazaran, a wealthy ranchero

67. J PLG, 1: 297 fr.
68. Ibid.
69. Ely's Administratorvs. United States., 171 U. S., 220.
70., Report of the Attorney General, (1904) 109.
71. Rudo Ensayo, 254.
72. Ibid., 2:11.
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who lived at Horcasita!;l.73 Astiazaran, in March, 1838, re:­
quested the second alcalde of that city to appoint commis­
sioners to inquire as to his ability to stock the unoccupied
lands between Tubac and. San Xavier. Upon verifying this,
that officer ordereq. the lands to be surveyed, measured and
appraised which comprised 31% sitios and ,a caballeria to
the southern boundaries of San Xavier. The appraisement
was.for the sum of $919 as follows': for 8 sitios with perma­
nent water, $480; 10 'sitios susceptible to irrigation, $300;
the remaining for $139. The measurements were returned
in May, 1838, and publications were made immediately for
the thirty days,~which the law required. After three public
auctions were held, the land was struck off to Astiazaran on
June 30 of the s'ame year. No title to the lands, however,
was ever submitted to the Anieric;an government to verify
the grant. 74

There is little evidence to indicate the grantee or his
heirs ever occupied the grant with stock.' During the late
1840s to the time of its cession to the United States, this
region was abandoned on account of the attacks of ~he

Apache Indians.75 James W. Douglas and his executor,
C. C. Dodson, occupied the ranch in ~854 or 1855 and erected
buildings there. 76 They later sold the cattle and fixtures to

, the Sopori Land and Mining Company.77 In 1858,Sylvester
.Mowry 78 of the Sopori Land and Mining Company, a cor-

73. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 93. op. cit. Testimony of Fernando D. Astiazaran. The
ongina] grantee, according to his son, Fet:nando D. Astiazaran. was one of the
wealthiest men in Sonora. ' He owned flour mills, several ranches and thousands of
c':ttle and horses. He took no active part in Mexican politics and held no offices. He
died in 1845. His son, Fernando, 'on the other hand, held many offices under the Mexi­
can go~ernment.. He married the da~ghter of Governor Manuel Gandara, several times
governor of Sonora during the period from 1830 to 1860.

74. J PLG, 8 :68 If.
75. Testimony of Peter' Kitchen. Sen. Ex. Doc. No. 93, op. cit._· Kitche;' was

a well known ranchero of southern Arizona. He stated in 1880 that when he came
to the country in 1854 the country from Tucson to Sonora was entirely depopulated
on account of the ravages of the Apaches~

76. Charles D. Poston's testimony, Ibid., 71. According to Poston, Wjlliam H.
Rhodes also occupied the ranch in conjunction With Doug!as and Dodson. See also'
Will C. Barnes, Arizona Place Names, (Tucson, 1935) 362. According to Barnes, J.
Ross Browne stated that Rhodes later owned a ranch 18 miles from Tubac on the road
to Tucson.

77. Kitchen's testimony, op. cit., 71.
78. Frank .C. Lockwood, Life in Old Tucson, (Los Angeles, 1948) Chapter X.
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poration organized under, the laws of Rhode ISland, pur:',
chased a', part -of the claims of.the Astiazaran heirs. 79 - Two,
years later, Mowry and the heirs sold their interests'to the
Arizona Land and Mining Company, -an'other ,Rhode Island'
corporation.81 During the period from 1859 to 1861, the
operations of the company were carried on under the direc­
tionof,Richmond Jones, Jr., the superintendent of the Sopori
Land and Mining Company. ,Pete Kitchen, who. assi.sted
in the surv~y o{thedaim, described the boundaries, of the
Sopor~ ranch as the arroyo on the edge of the- Santa Rita­
mountains on the east; on the south the Revanton and the
f90thills of the' Santa Ritas near the hot springs ; on; the
north to the Sahuarito.82 In 1861,~a party of some 600
Apaches raided the Santa Cruz ';valley and killed Jones,
raided. the Sopori ranch and drove off and killed all of the

'-, stock 'on it amounting to about 300'head;83 This put an end
to the company's operations for some time.84

79. -COpies of conveyances, power of attorney. and contracts -of sale. Sen. Ex:
Doc. No. 93. op. cit. -IlThe mine of Sopori opened many years:aio, had in Mexico an ex­
tensive ;epiltation. The ores extracted were exceedingl:Y rich in gold and silver, but
the works. were s~- badly ca'rried on that the" vein is lost, and- not even .any exte~ior
traces of its position is left. A few .. arastras in bad condition are all that are left
of the operations there. The mine for';'s a part of the Sopori Rancho, of an area
of 21;000 acres, situated west of 'the Mal Pais' Sierra and south of the Canoa Rancho,
which are both considered as the best ranches of Arizona., The Sopori .Comp~';y, is
incorporated in 'Providence, RhOde Island' with a capital - of $1,000,000., Governor
Jackson is the president; Lieutenant Mowry, 'one '-of the principal share holders, is,

,at the same' time, one of the trustees." F. Biertu (1861) it; Sylvester.Mowry, Ari~ona
and Sonora: The 'Geography, History, and Resources of the Silver Region of North
America' (New York, 1864), 81. •

81. [demo "This company owns a large tract of .Iand of, 32 Iea~ues 'square, on
which is situated the old silver mine of San Xavier, which was' worked during the

-time of the Jesuits, atid ~hich appears exceedingly rich; other' veins equ~ilY rich
are to be found in the center of the property, on the Sierra Tinaja. The' company
was incorporated in Providence, Rhode Island, 'with a capital of $2,000,000. !fhe

- Hon. S. G•. Arnold is the president. The Treasurer is Mr. Alfred Anthony, Pr';'ident -­
. of the Jackson Bank of Providence. Col. Colt, Lieut. Mowry; and other rich capital­

ists in the' East, are the actilal owners. Mr. Mowry is the holder of more than one
half of the stock of the company. N. Rich!!,ond Jones, Jr. is the engineer-in-chief
of this mine, as also of the Sopori Mine."

82. Kitche~'s testimony, op. cit., 71
83. [bid. This statement is substantiated in general by the testimony of Charles

W. Poston.
84. Mowry, - op. cit., written in 1863. - "The Sopori and Arizona -Land. and

Mining Companies, who own a vast' tract of mineral. grazing and .arable lands in the
Santa Cruz Valley, have also suspended operations. ~Their stock is in good hands, and
will be good property.- They intend, I .am informed, to reco~menc'e operations at an'
earlY day. Some of the heaviest eastern capitalists are the principal owners ,of these,
stocks." -
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J. Ross Browne, several years later, described the So~

pori ranch as he saw it In,his customary style :85

Aqe!ightful ride of five or six miles through
a broad, rich valley of grass, ple'asantly diversified
with groves of mesquit and palo-verde, brought
us to a narrow pass, on the right elevation of which
stand the remains of the buildings of the Sopori
Land and Mining Company. Little is now left

. saved ruined adobe walls and tumbled in roofs.
As usual not a living thing was to be seen. Silence
and desolation remained supreme. At the time Col.
James W. Douglass lived here the Soporiwas one
of the most flourishing ranches in the country. He
had· herds of fat cattle ranging over the pastures;
fields of'grain and vegetables in the rich bottom
that lies just in front of the dwelling house; domes·­
tic animals and fowls of various kinds and could
.always afford the traveller· a generous recep-
tion. ; . '. . .
, The Sopori. Ranch, although' at the present
uninhabit~d, pos.sesses advantages as a mining and
grazing region which have long since given it a

.r~putation iri" Sonora. ... . ~ "

In 1866, the Sopori Land and Mining Company, which
had several years .previously, suspended operations, repur­
chased the grant for $30,000:'36 Due to repeated Apache
raips, which continued from 1861 to 1872, the' ranch was
not reoccupied until the 1870s.

. The claims pf the Sopori Land and, Mining _. Company
were presented to John. Wassen, surveyor'general" of Ari­
zona, for his approval. In his recommendations to the Sec­
retary of the Interior in 1881, he advised their rejection
"on the grounds' that the original title papers are forged,
ante-dated and otherwise invalid."87, His report was sub­
mitted to the committee on private land claims in the Sen-

I.

ate in 1882 and ordered to be printed.88 Congress, however,
took no action on the matter. After the Court .of Private
Land Claims· had been established, the grants were sub-

85. J. Ross Browne, Adventure.. in the Ap'!che Country, (New York, 1866) 260 If,
86. Sen. Ex, Doc. '93. O'P. cit. .
87. Ibid., 158.
.88. Ibid., 1.
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mitted before that body in 1893.89 The court rejected the ­
mining company's claim in to~o for 141,722 acres.VO

San Rafael De La Sanja (Zanga) Grant
-Don Manuel Bustillo, a citizen of the presidio of Santa

Cruz, on July 19, 1821, petitioned Governor Intendente Don
Antonio Cordero, for a grant of land of four sitios for the
raising of stock. The land sought was at a place named "de
la Sanja." Three of these sitios requested were within the
boundaries of the presidio while the other was outs,ide and
was for -a stock farm. Bustillo asked that the necessary
legal steps be taken preliminary to securing.a title. He
also asked that appraisers take "into consideration that the
lands asked fOf borders .upon the cou~try-ofthe Apaches
who are constantly hostiie."

An order was subsequently issued by the governor in­
tendente to the commandant of the presidio of Santa Cruz,
Captain Simon Elias GC,)llzales, to proceed with the measure­
ments of the land petitioned for, to appoint appraisers, and
make the publications for sale of the lands. A counter, a
noter and measurers were appointed. On October 5 and 6,
1821, they made the measurements, starting from the cen­
ter and using natural .landmarks. The lands were valued. , -"-

by' "intelligent ~experts" for $210; three of the sitios were
- appraised ~t $60' each ~s they contained rimning water' and

the fourth at $30 since it contained no water othe~ than what
wa's furnished by running wells.

The commandant then authorized that publications b~

made for a period of 30 consecutive days for the sale of the
four ,square leagues. The sworn testimony' of three 'wit­
nesses was taken that Bustillo had sufficient livestock to
stock the -land. The expediente was transmitted to the in­
tendente who, by decree, referred it to the attorney general.
The la:tterapproved the legality of the transactions. The
public sales were held January 8, 9, and 10, 1822'. , On the
first, day of the sale Don Ramon RO!!1~ro, for himself and .
the residents of Santa Cruz; bid $10 higher than the ap-

89. Clearance Docket No. 19. Court of Private Land Claims, Phoenix.
90. Report of the Attorney General, (1904) 95.
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praised value. The bidding went up to $1,200 and the land
was struck off to Romero. No higher bid was made the
next two days on which the land was offered for sale so it
remaIned 'sold to Romero and the citizens of Santa' Cruz.
The expedierite was transmitted to Romero who replied' that
he was satisfied and would pay into the national treasury
the sum required. He then paid the $1,200 to the royal gov­
ernment plus the $97 taxes connected with the sale.

·Before the proceedings were entirely completed Mexico
became independent from Spain. ' A title was accordingly
issued Romero May ~5, 1825, by Juan Miguel Riesgo, commis- '
sary general of the State of the West and Jose Maria Men­
doza, provisional secr~tary. An interesting fe~ture of this
title is that it, as the Sonoita grant, was given by a Mexican
state,in'accordance with the Spanish law of 1754.

The grant containeq about the· same provisions as the
others of that peribd. One exception is that in case the land
·was abandoned for one year, instead of the usual three years~
except by reason of the invasion of the -A-paches, it 'should

, revert to the public domain.91

Ramon Romero die.d in 1873. His descendants pressed
their claims before the land office for approval. . The orig­
inal title papers stipulated that the grant was for euatro

. sitios para eria de ganado mayor. According to the inter­
pretatio~ of the claimants it was for "four leagues square"
or sixteen sitios and, that the grant was one by metes and
bounds and not one of specific quantity. John Wassen, sur­
veyor general for Arizona, mafntained that the literal inter-.
pretation of this clause was "four square leagues" arid that
the grant was for a, specific amount of land. He, therefore,
recommended confirmation for four sitios only.92 Since
Congress never acted upon the matter the grant was sub- '
mi.tted before the Court of Private Land Claims for its de­
cision. The claimants paid into the treasury $1,359 for the
"overplus"93 and $200 for the expenses at the same time
claiming that the grant was 152,890 acres.94 The Court

91. JPLC, 1 :415 If.
92. Ibid. .
93. Vide SUPTa, 2. .
94. United States vs. Green et al; Christie vs. United States., 185 U. S., 638.
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,of Private Land Claims confirmed their rights' for·only four
square leagues.95 The matter, was then appealed to the Su- _'

'preme Court in 1902. Here the opinion of the lower court '
was sustained.96

The Aribaca (Arivaca) Grant ,
Aribaca is another of the abandoned 18th cel}tury set­

tlements of Arizona which was. reoccupied by the st.ockrilen
in the 'early 19th century.' The author 6f the Rudo: E.'nsayo
.in 1762 speaks of it as having been a visita of Guebavi. The
Spanish' operated several mines near it. -His description 'of .
the place is as follows: 97

There was a fourth' (visita) ,called Ari (Ari­
vaca) where the rebels camped.in1751,and it was
10 leagues Northwest (of Guevavi). There used

•to be near this place one gold mine' and several
silver m~nes which are' now, I believe abandoned.

This· writer again mentions the place as having been de­
populated on account of the rebellion of the Pima' Indians

, in 1751.98 In 1764, Reyes speaks of'the place as :99

... about one league from the' Presidio (Tubac)
. (is), the fourth '(visita) which it (Guevavi) has, .

and it was caJled- "Arivaca"; together with its 10- '
, cality the Pimas devastated it in the year 751

U751), and it used to be about twelve leagues,
fro,m the headquarters. There is a gold' mine mid
several silver mines, and they are worked at the
present time. '

Bancroft mentions th'at; during the period fromi790 to
'1820, mines were' operated at Aribaca.10,o From the state­
m,ents above; it appears there were' considerable mining
activities there prior to 1830.

On June 20, 1833, Tomas and Ignacio Ortiz, citizens of
"Tubac who had some years earlier secured the Canoa grant,

95. Report -of the Attorney General. (1900) 64.
96. U. S: VB. Green, QP. cit.
97. Rudo EnstLlJo, 223.
98. ibid.,
99. RoBe, op. cit., 4.19.

100. Arizona. a'lld New Mexico, 407:

, "
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presented a petition to the constitutional alcalde at Tubac.
'They requested that proceedings be "instituted for the. pos­
session, measurements and appraisement of . two square"
leagues of land. In this petition the two brothers presented
a statement from the treasurer at Arispe showing that on
Octol:?er 10, 1812, thei~ father, Agustin Ortiz, a citizen of
the presidio of, Tucson,. deposited $747 and 3 reals as the
highest bid for two sitios for stock-raising which were sold
to him by action by the Spanish government. This land
comprised the old'and depopulated settlement called Arivac
in the jurisdict~on of Pimeria Alta. The expediente con- _
tainjng the measurements, appraisements and bids ,of 1812
were Im'lt or filed away, it was claimed, and could not be
fourid. "' The monuments on the boundarJes still existed the
Ortiz brothers asserted. They, therefore, asked that a title
be issued them.

Steps were then taklm to· substantiate the .claims.
Atanacio btero" the alcalde, received the testimony that the
applicants had occupied the lands since )812 and that the
landmarks had existed since that date. '

The matter was finally presented to the Sonoran offi­
cials. Both the treasurer, general, Jose M. Mendoza, and
the governor' approved the' petition in 1833. A title was
ordered then to be issued. The sum of $30, was paid for
this service and a title was subsequently given the brothers
by the treasurer general under the date of July 2, 1833, for
the two sitios. . The, terms were the same as that given to
other recipients, of land grants of -that time,101

After the United States had acquired this territory by
treaty, the lands changed hands several times. $amuelP.
Heintzel~~n,president of the Sonora Exploring and Mining
'Company acquired title to them in 1856.102 Mines were op­
erated on the· Aribaca and reduction works we're carried on
there;103 During the Apache o~tbreaks of the 1860s, these

101. JPLC, 2 :83 If.
102. Idem.
103. Sylvester Mowry, oP.' cit., 73, .Mowry described the operations of the Aribaca

mines as follows by the Sonora Exploring and M~ning ..Company. "This mine, situated
at about 30 miles' from Tubac in the Cerro Colorado, is one of the principal mines,
if not the richest in the territory. The company is working the'vein known as the
Heintzelman mine, rich in argentiferous coppers and also ,several other -~eins on the



308 NEW MEXICO HISTORICAL REVIEW

mines as the others, wer.e abandoned. In 1863, the grant was
transferred to the Arizona Land and Mining 'Company.104

J. Ross Browne leaves us with a description of the
ranch as'it appeared to him on his journey in 1864: 105

Seven miles from the Cerro Colorado we
reached the Arivaca Ranch, long celebrated for its
rich mines and fine pastures. The ranch called
by the Mexicans La Aribac, comprises within its
boundaries 17,000 ~cres of agricultural. lands, 25
silver mines formerly worked by Mexicans and
numerous gold, copper and lead mines, as yet un~

developed. It contains a large amount of rich
:meadow land· bordering on a never-failing stream;
it is well wooded with, oak, walnut, ash, cotton­
wood and mesquit, and is capable of sustaining a
pop1,llation of 5 to 6,000 souls. The range for cattle
and sheep is almost without limit extending over
a belt of gra~ing country' as far .south as the Ari­
zona Mountains. . . . The title is held by the Ari­
zona Minin'g Company' and is derived from Tomas
and Ignacio Ortiz who perfected it as early as 1802
(sic) .. " Up to the abandonment of the Terri­
tory in 1861 it was a progressive state of improve­
ment under: the Company's agent. The reduction
works of the Heinzelman mine were situated on
the ranch for the convenience of wood, water and
pasturage, and were projected on a costly and ex­
tensive scale. Little now remains of them save the
ruins. of the mill and furnaces, the adobe store
houses and offices and a dilapidated corral.

After Charles D: Poston106 had acquired possession of
• 1· - ..

the grant in 1870 the claim was submitted before the sur-
veyor general of Arizona for his examination. 'In his rec-

. Rancho Arivaco'. The actual and imperfect system of reduction is by means of
amalgamating barrels. Steam engines of 40 horsepower with a new process of
amalgamating and refining will soon be introduced. One of the principal .hare­
holders, Mr. Charles D. Poston, is the director, and at the same time lessee of the
mine for the term of ten years. The company was incorporated in Cincinnati, Ohio
with a capital of $2,000,000 divided into 20,000 shares. The sum already expended
for the working of the ·mine is estim~ted at $230,000 either in ready -;~sh-~r from

"the proceeds of the mine."

104. JPLC, 2 :83 If.
105. Browne, <>P. cit., 271.
106. Life in Old Tltc.""" 57 If.
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square leagues were appraised for ,$15 each since they, were
without water.. Publications were begun November 11,

1841, and were continued for thirty 'days. A summary of
the pr9ceedings were placed before .the treasury of the de­
partment. The fiscal attorney authorized the three' public
auctions be held beginning January 5, 1843, under.the super­
vision of the commission of public sales alld the office of the

,treasury. The sales were accordingly concluded with the,
Jands' being sold' to, Elias for $1'13.50. ,

_ A title was given the grantee at Arispe on January 7,
1843, by, Ygnacio Lopez, president of the treasury 'depart..
~ent. The grant was !llade under terms similar to others of
that ,period;111 .

The claims to thIs grant were finally transferred. to the
Camou brothers who submitted them to the sur~eyor gen­
eral for his examination; 'Since a part of this grant was iIi
Mexico, that official recoinizedtheir claims as valid for
10,638 acres although the expediente was lacking in the
Mexican archive's.112 Congress took no action on the sur-

" ~eyor general's report. A petition asking the confirmation
of their rights to 32,763 acres was submitted to -the court

, of P~ivate L9-nd Claims by, the owners' in 1892. This,
tribunal refused to recognize the grarit as 'valid. The case
was 'appealed to the Suprert:le Court. Here the claimants

, met, defeat again. . The proceedings of the Sonoran gov-
,ernmerit .in -1841 in sanctioning the resurvey of the lands
'of La Casita wer~ declared illegaL113

The San Bernardino Grant
, , '

The San Bernardinq was one of the most famous of the
ranches in what is now southern Arizona and northern
So;nora· in, the early 19t9 ce~tury from accounts of that

,region. The expedienfe of the original grant refers to it as ,
having been abandoned earlier on account of the incursions
of 'the Apaches. A part of it lies 'in what is now Cochise

111. JPLG. 2:381-493. 3 :1-18.
112, Ibid, List of Unconfirmed Land Claims in Arizona, LOR, (1888) 495.
113. AinBa, ,et al. VB. U. S.,. 161 U.S... 208 ff. '
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county_but the larger portion. of it is in Mexcio. The orig-
inal grant was for 29;644 hectares or 73,240 acres. l14

" On December 16, 1820, Lieutenant Ignacio Perez, in a
petition addressed to the gcivernor intendente, 'Antonio Cor­
dero, reque~ted a tract of land known'as the San Bernardino'

, which. extended from the sites of Batefitoand the Sierra del
Cubullon, owned by Nazario Gomei, to the sourGes of the
San Pedro. He stated that he proposed to establish a buffer
state against the Apaches by covering "... that central
frontier post thereby having access, to frontier .'Posts ~f

Tucson, Tubac, Santa Cruz, Fronteras and Babispe, thus
favoring and aiding my own enterprise." His needs for the
lands, he stated, were to ho~d the hereditary rights of his
wife. The petition further 'outlined the great benefit 'the
nation would derive by making this grant to him because
he might induce the Apache barbarians to till the lands and
lead a peaceful life. . For the above reasons, he asked that
the lands be surveyed, appraised and published for thirty
days according to the law. .

The, governor intendent'e then ordered proceedings be
taken to alienate. the land in Perez', favor. He ~uthorized'

Constitutional Judge D. Nazario Gomez to proceed with the
inspection, survey and valuation. At Fronteras, on March
29, 1821, the judge proceeded to survey the four sitios. ,The
lands were valued as follows: ,for one sitio containing
springs 'without much water, $30; for the'three remaining
ones which were dry, $10 each. Three witnesses were
called to ,testify' as to·Perez; ability to stock the land. Two
of them claimed that he had more than enough to stock it:
The other stated that the petitioner had over 4,000 'head of
cattle. In February, i822, the lands were authorized to

,be cried o.ut at Fronteras for thirty days. In Arispe on May
21, 22, and 23, 1822, the intendente as president and the .
board of public sales supervised the auctioning of the .land
to Perez for $90. Perez paid the above amount plus the"
fees into the treasury.. No titulo, howe'ver, was ever issued'
the grantee by 'the Spanish government.H1!

, ,

11'4. Walter Noble Bums, Tombstone, (New York, 1928) 258.
115, Copy oj e:r;pediente, San Bernardino Files, General Land Office, Phoenix.
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The operations of the San Bernardino Ha~ienda were
very large. According to Ha~kett, "At the height of its
existence it is said to have had 100;000 cattle, 10,000 horses
and 5,000 mules."116 The ranch was apparently abandoned
in the 1830s. In their haste in leaving the ranch, the owners
left a large amount of stock which reverted to their wild
state. Colonel Cooke relates encountering this stock in his

,expedition in 1846 in the Mexican War. He found bands
'of wild horses and herds of cattle. He also tells. of the en­
gagement his command had with wild bulls in this'region
on-December 11.117 -

S~veral years later, in 1851, Commissioner Bartlett
gave a very good description of this magnificent old
hacienda.118

San Bernardino is a collection of adobe build­
ings in a'ruined state of which nothing but walls re­
mains.One of the buildings was about 100 feet
square with a court in the centre, and adjoining it
were others with small apartments. The latter
were doubtless the dwelljngs of peons and herds­
men. The whole extending over a space of about
two acres, was incloseq with a high wall of adobe,
with regular .bastions of defense. Being -elevated
some 20 or 30 feet above the valley, this hacienda
commands a fine view of the country around. Vast
herds of cattle were formerly raised here, but the
frequent attacks of the. Apaches -led to the abandon­
ment of the place. Some cattle which had strayed
away and were not recovered' at tpe time have
greatly multiplied since an'd now roam over the
plains as wild and more fierce than buffalo. . . .

,This establishment was abandoned about twenty
years ago; since which time no attempt was made
to reoccupy it.

The claimants to this grant submitted their title to
the surveyor general of Arizona for his examination. He
recommended confirmation of 2,360 acres.1l9 Congress took

116. Bert Haskett, "Early History of the Cattle I~dustry' in Arizona", Arizona
Historical Review. October, 1935, 8 If. .

117. Farish. op. cit .., 1 :138-139.
118. Bartlett, op. cit., 1 :255-256.
119. San Bernardino flies. General Lan~ Office, Phoenix.
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no action on it. In 1884, John Slaughter, famous and cele­
'brated sheriff of Cochise County from 1887 to 1890,120 pur­
chased the grant in 1884. He submitted hi,S petition before
the-Court of Private Land Claims in 1893 'for 13,746.acres.
The 'court, however, confirmed his rights to only 2..383

, acres.121

, ;The San Ignacio Del Babocomari Grant
The Babocomari is another of the sites of the early 18th

century which was reoccupied by the later rancheros. Ac­
cording to Professor Bolton, the visita of Huachuca, estab­
lished by Father Kino, was located on the Babocomari
ranch.122 This grant was located in what is now Santa Cruz
and Cochise ,Counties along the valley of the 'same name,'

/ which is a tributary of the San Pedro ,river.' .
. Ignacio and Dona Eulalia Elias, the first a citizen of
R,ayon and the second 'of Arispe, on July 1, 1827, addressed
a petition to Treasurer General Mendoza, asking for a tract
of land known as San IgnaCio del Babocomari for stock
raising. This tract joined Tres Alamos a~d was situated in
the jurisdiction' of the presidio of Santa Cruz.

The necessary proceedings were then taken to alienate
the land. The treasurer general authorized the alcalde of
Santa Cruz to proceed with the measurement and publishing
oj them for' thirty consecutive days. On October 3, 1828"
the alcalde .authorized the surveyors to proceed to the San
Pedro for measuring the eight sitios. The lands were valued
by the appraisers for $380:' six square leagues contained
running water and were placed at $60 each ; the other two
were valued at '$iO each because of their dryness. .Offers of
sale were then made of them to purchasers by the alcalde for
thirty days beginning October 30. No' buyers appeared so
the expediente was conciuded on November 30 and was sent
to 'the treasurer general's office. It was finally submitted to
the attorney general who notified the former official that
the proceedings were, legal and the. lands might be sold.

120, Burns. op. cit.• 'Chapters XVIII. XIX, XX.
121. 'Final Report of the Court of Private Land Claims, Report ·of the Attorney

General. ,(1904) 99 If.
122. Rim of Christendom, 594.
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Al,lctions were h~ld December 22, 23 and 24, 1828, intlie city ­
of Cocospera and the' eight' sitios sold to Ignacio and 'Eulalia
.Elias for $38,0. At a,meeting of the junta de almonedas the
,salewa's confirmed. The money-for the lands was deposited -
in behalf of the Elias'.

The title given the grantees December 25, 1832, at
Arispe was similar to the others made by Treasurer General
Mendoza in that period. It contained the three year 'aba'n­
doninent clause and required the purchasers to erect monu­
ments, etc.123

. There seems to. be only. one ,account of the Babocomari
rancho' and that was written .long after it was abandoned.,
ComIpissioner Bartlett gave a very good description of 'the
place in 1851: 124

- ,

. .'. This hacienda, as I afterwards learned,
was one of the largest establishments' in Sonora.
The cattle roamed along the entire length of the
valley; and at the time it w:as abangoned, there'was
not less than 40,000 head of them, besides 'a large
number of .horses and mules~The same cause
which led to the abandonment of so many other
ranchos, haciendas and villages in' the State had
been the ruin _of this. The Apaches encroached
upon them, drove off their animals and murdered
the herdsmen;' when the owners to save the rest,
drove them further into the interior and left the
place. Many of the cattle, however, remained and
spread themselves over the -hills and valleys near;
from these num~rousherdshave sprung, which now
range along the. entire length of the San Pedro and
fts trib,utaries. .

. No attempts appear to have been made to reoccupy the
grant until· long after that region became American terri­
tory. In 1877, E. B. Perrin of California purchased the
rights of the heirs. The claims were submitted to the sur­
veyor general of Arizona. This official in 1879 recom­
iriended the title be confirmed,125 Congress took no action
on the grant. After the Court Of Private Land Claims had

123. JPLG'-l :129 fr..
124. Bartlett, op. cit,; 1:396-397.

, 125. JPLC. 1:129 fr.
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.been created, the claimants submitted their cause before
that body for 128,000 acres ,claiming overplus lands. The,
court denied confirmation of any of the grant on the ground
that there was not sufficient location of any of it. ' The
owners then appealed to the Supreme Court. Here the case
was remanded to the lower court for re-examination.126 On'
the subsequent review of the case, the Court of Private Land '

, Claims confirmed their 'claims for 33,792 acres or for ap-
proximately eight sitios.127 '

The TresAlamos Grant
The Tres Alamos was the only empresario' (promoter)

type of grant in ,Arizona., It is interesting in that two vain
, attempts were made to occupy the same lands. Both failed
for practically the same reason-the Apache Indians'.

In a petition addressed, to the treasurer geheral at
Arispe on June 9, 1831, Leonardo Escalente, in the name of
eight differen~ empresanos, requested a gr:ant of land in the
jU,risdictiori of the presidio of Tucson. The limits of ,the
tracts desired were described as: the Pinal mountains on the
,north; on the south, the lands taken up on the San Pedro,
on' the east the Cobre Grande; and, the common lands of the
presidio of Tucson .o~ the west. 'The petitioners o:tfered to
people the tract with colonists,. '. .

The congress of Sonora on' December 6, 1831, ac~ord-
, ingly, authorized the grant and exempted the recipients'

from municipal taxation. Petitions were filed by th'eeight
empresarios for 58 sitios 'as follows: ' Leonardo, Escalente,
8 sitios; Dona Maria Perz Ortiz, 8 ; Dona Maria Guadalupe'
Escalellte Narboila, 8; Manuel Narbona, 8; Antonio Pascual
Narbona, 6; Miguel Bustamente, 4; Jose ,Desiderio Velda­
sola, 8; Jose .Escalente, 4; Rafael Escalente, 4. The 'pro- ,
ceedings 'for securing these grants were stopped by an up­
rising, of the Apaches so no further steps were taken' to .
occupy them.128 ' ,

126, Perrin VB. United StateB, Crittend~n Land and Cattle ·Company, et al., 171'
. U, S., 290.

127. -Final Report of.the Court of Private La'nd Claims, op. cit."D5 If.
128, JPLG. 4 :289 If: ' .
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After the-war between .the United States and Mexico,
the latter nation attempted to colonize its unoccupied lands
along the frontier. This was no doubt due to fear that
Americans and other foreign groups might settle upon and
eve'ntually seize. them. The congress of the state of Sonora,
therefore, on January 29, 1852, passed an act to encourage
and' promote the settlement of the vacant and abandoned
frontier :lands. It authorized the governor to make grants
in order to oppose by means of a barrier the incursions of
the marauding bands of Indians.129

In compliance with the above legislation, Jose Antonio
Crespe, a Spaniard who was a resident of Guaymas, on Sep­
tember 10, 1852, petitioned the government for a grant of
land ten square leagues for the purpose" of stock~raisingand
agriculture at a place known as "Tres Alamos." Crespe
stated in his petition to the governor of Sonora that since
the land had been abandoned on account of the Indians, he
should be permitted to take possession of it. He stated
that he intended to settle one hundred or more Catholic
families on it which he would bring from South America
or Spain. The tract desired was north of the presidio of
Tubac and San Ignacio which lay along the San Pedro river. '
He further said that it would take from five to ten years to
carry out his plans.13o

A-grant was accordingly made by Governor Fernando
CubriIIas to the petitioner for ten sitios, one league wide and'
ten leagues long, on the San Pedro river. It stipulated that
a maximum period of eight years would be given the grantee
to segregate, take possession of and have the lands occupied'
by stock and cultivation. l3l

Before.Crespe had an opportunity to survey and estab­
lish a settlement on his domains the Gadsden Treaty was
signed and ratified which transferred the region to the
United States. The hostilities of the Apaches continued.
Crespe foun,d it impossible to occupy the tract. Several
years later, his heirs transferred their interests .to Geor-ge

129. House Report No. 187. 49 Cong., 1 BesB.
130. JPLG. 4 :213 11'.
131. Ibid., House Report No. 187, op. cit.
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Hill Howard, who bought up several other Mexican grants·
in Arizona in the 1870s and ·1880s.. '

The claims were submitted before the surveyor general.
of Arizona who, in 1883, recommended the approval of ten
square leagues to the owners. As the ~esult of an investi­
gation several years later, however, the land office recom­
mended the rejection of the grant on the ground that the
description was "too indefinite and'vague to permit an in­
telligent survey."132 As Congress took no action on the rec­
ommendations; the owners submitted their cause before the
Court of. Private Land Claims in 1893.133 Here again their
.grant was held invalid. The Supreme Court, upon· appeal,
refused to review the case.134 ~.

The San Rafael DeJ yalle Grant
The San Rafael del Valle gr·ant was located along both

sides of the San Pedro river north of what is now Hereford,
Arizona. It was south of the San Juan de las Boquillas

. - .
grant.

On March 12, 1827, at Arispe, Joaquin Eliaf:!, in behalf
of his brother Rafael Elias, addressed a petition to Treas­
urer General Mendoza as follows: "Needing lands for my
stock, I denounce the vacant land tract that adjoins the
Ranch of San Pedro in 'the· jurisdiction of Santa Cruz, as
far as the place three Alamos, obligating myself to pay the
nation the corresponding taxes and do 'all other. things that
may be justly required in. order to acquire a title to said
lands and a confirmation .thereof; therefore· Your Honor
will be pleased to consider said lanp as registered and
vacant." .

The alcalde of Santa Cruz was authorized to proceed
with the alienation of the land. in Elias' favor. After it had
been surveyed arid measured by officers appointed by the
alcalde commissioner, the four sitios.were appraised at $240
or at $60 each since they contained running'water. He then
made'publications for thirty days beginning August'30 and

132. LOR, (1888) 495; LOR (1886) 22.
133. Clearance Docket, op. cit, 14.
134. Final Report of the Court of Private Land Claims. op. cit.
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ending S'eptember28, 1827. ·Since no purchasers appeared,
the expediente was conclud.ed September 30. This was for­
warded for sale and public auction to the treasurer g~neral.
After the proceedings had been approved as legal.by the
l:l,ttorney general, the lands were auctioned at three, public
sales held at Arispe April 16, 17 and 18, 1828, ~nd sold to
·Don Rafael Elias for $240. This transaction was supervised
by the board of sales.13;; .

On September 25, 1832, a tit~e was issue(j the grantee
by Treasurer General Mendoza., Th,e terms_are similar 'to
the other 'ones granted by that officer .during that period.1S6

The' claims to this grant were purchased in 1869 by the
Camoubrothers who. also bought the rights to the Los No­
gales de .Elias137 and~the Agua· Priet~ grants.138 • After .ex­
amination, the surveyor general of Arizoria recommended

. the approval' of four sitios of- the grant.139 Since Congress
took no action, the claimants. submitted their case before the
Court of Private Land Claims' in 1891 askirig confirmation
of their rights to 20,034 acres,14° .Here their cause wasre­
jeded)41 The owners then appealed to the Supreme Court
who reversed the decision or' the lowerco~rtand remanded
the case backto it for further review,142 in the subsequent ~
exarp.ination, the Court of Private Land Claims approved
the grant for 17,475 acres. The government then appealed
the case to' the' Supreme Court'. Again the' cause of the
owners was upheld for the four sitios.143 .'

The AgUa Prieta Grant .
. Several years after 'th'e request-for the Sari Rafael' del

.. Valle grant .was filed, Rafael,144 Juan, ana. Ignacio Elias'
144. HiB name would indicate he was also' the recipient of the San Rafael grant..

(Gonzales) petitioned for several tracts of land known as
Agua Prieta, Naidenibacachi and SantaBarbara. They

185. JPLC. 1 :47 If.
136. Tdem.

·137. Vide Supra. 112.
188. Vide Tnfra. 146.
139. LOR, (1888) 495.
140. ~port of the Attorney General (1894), 5.
141. Tdem•

. 142. Camou VB. United States. 171 U. S .• 277 If.­
148. United. States VB•. Camou, 184 U. S. 572 If.
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stated in their petition, which bore the date of July 21, 1831,
that they had large numbers of cattIeand sheep whose num­
bers they could not' feed on the sitios b,elonging, to them.
For that reason, their stock wandered to the four Il.0ints- of
the compass, more particularly. towards the waters of the
Santa J3arbara, Naidenibacachi, Agua Prieta and Coagu­
yona by which they suffered incalculable damage. ,They,
therefo~e, made formal denouncement of the above terri­
tory that might he "found ,to be public lands' within the
points and waters aforesaid, which are bounded on the north
by the' Chiricahua Mountains, on the south by the' lands of
the .Sinaloas, on the east by the mountains of Goaguyona
and o-n the west the lands of the Sans." The petitioners,
furthermore, asked that orders be issued for their survey,-
appraisement, publication and sale. -. -

'. After making an .investigation of the case and taking
testimony 'in October, 1831, the treasurer general at Her­
mosillo ordered Vincente Elias, a resident of San Ignacio,

" to proceed with the survey, appraisement and publications
tinder the then existing laws. In August, 1835, Elias pro­
ceeded to execute the commission. He, in September, ap~
pointed assistants, measurers and ,recorders and proceeded
with the survey of the 6112 sitios of the Agua Prieta lands..
Then the Santa Barbara and Naidenibacachi tracts were
measured, which contained an area of 11% sitios and 12112
caballerias, making a total of 18 square leagues and 12112
caballerias. The 6112 sitios were appraised 'as/follows: one
at $60. which contained a limited water course; the others
were'valued 'at $15, each as they were .absolutely dry. The
remaining 11112 s,itiosand 12112 caballerias were valued:'
one at $80; another at $60; and the remainder at $15 each'­
making a grand total of ,$432.50. Publications were made
for 30 consecutive days from June 4 to July 3, 1836. The
three auctions were held the same year on September 15,
16 and 17 and the grants were sold to the petitioners for -the
amount of the appraisement. A title was. issued them -on
December 28,1836, on·-the usual terms.145

145. EBtate of Frank Ely and -Edward Camou VB..United States. 184 U. S•• 638 If.
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The Camou brothers acquired 32 square leagues of the
Elia~' lands, in addition to the San Rafael del Valle 'grant,
in 1869 f,or $14,000.146 The claimants in 1893 filed a petition
with the .Court of Private Land Claims arguing for con­
'firm~tion. of rights to 68,530 acres. They maintained that
the original grant to the Agua Prieta tract was one based ori
natural boundaries by metes' and bounds and not one of a
specific amount. For that reason; they claimed rights to
ove~plus lands totalling approximately 40,000 acres. In
compliance to the Mexican laws which existed at the time
the original grant was made, they paid into the treas.ury
$600 and asked for a title to the Qverplus as well as to the
61;2 sitiosy7 The court refused to confirm their rights to
both the Agua Prieta tract as well as the overplus. The
owners then appealed to the' Supreme Court. .Here the de­
cision of the lower court was sustained and the confirmation
of the grant denied,148

San Juan De'Las Boquillas and Nogales Grant
This grant was, located along both sides of the San

Pedro River in what is now Cochise County. It was 51;2
leagues long and %.' of a league in width. The town of Fair­
banks, Arizona is almost in the center of this old grant.

On May 12, 1827, Captain Ignacio Elias Gonzales and
NepomuciilO Felix made formal denouncement of four sitios
for stock raising. In their petition to Treasurer General
Mendoza, they asked for a tract known as San Juan de las
Boquillas. This request was admitted July 1 of that year.
The land was accordingly surveyed and appraised af·$240 .
or at $60 for each sitio. After the 30 days 'of P4blications.
and the three public auctions, the land was sold for $240 to'
Gonzales and Felix. On May 8, 1833, a title was issued the
grantees to the tract by Mendoza under the customary con­
ditions of that period.149

George Hill Howard purchased the grant from the
de~cendantsof Elias (Gonzales) and .Felix in 1879 and-1880.

146. House Report No. 192, 49 Cong., 1 ·Sess., 3.
147. Ely's Adm; vs. U. S., op. cit.
148. 'Ely's Adm. vs. U. S., op. cit.
14.9. JPLG, 2 :210 if; 3 :64-67.,



'150. Ibid.
151. 'LOR, (1888) 495.
152. Report of Atiprney General (1899), 68; Decree of Court of Private Land

Claims, San Juan de las Boquillas files, General, Land Office, Phoenix.
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for' 30 consecutive days. 'These proclamations took place
. for the stipulated period. As no one appeared to outbid
the petitioner; the alcalde and Judge surveyor submitted the
proceedings' to the governor intendente, Antonio Cordero.
After' finding the expediente satisfactory, the sale was or'­
.dered to be held at Arispe on July 3,A, and 5, 1822. The
land was sold to Perez for $190. "

Some time elapsed before a title was issued. Follow­
ing the sale, the $190 plus $18 and 1. grain for taxes and
expenses were paid into the royal treasury'- The board of
the' imperial treasury approved the sale in favor of Perez.
Mexico at this time was undergoing separation from 'Spain.
No' action was taken until October 2.5, 1832, when Ignado
Perez (perhaps the grantee, of San Bernardino), in behalf
of his brother, presented a petition to the treasurer general·

. of Sonora for. the limd. In the meantime, the petitioner had
sold his rights to Rafael EIJas.153 Mendoza, on May 8, 1833,'
issued the title to Elias.154 ,

. . In 1888, the investigation by the surveyor general of
Arizona w~s pending for the approval of the four sitios.155

The claimants, the Reloj Cattle Company, in 1897 pre­
sented their petition before the Court of Private Land
Claims maintaining the original grant with -the overplus
contained 57,000 acres, 38,000 of which was in the United
States and 19,000 in Mexico. -The petition also claimed that
the grant was one of natural objects by metes and bounds
and not one of specific quantity. This court refused to'con-

. firm the grant.. The cattle company then appealed their case
,to the Supreme Court in 1901. Here the opinion of the lower
court; in refusing to confirm the title of the owners, was
sustained.156 '

The El Paso De Los Algodones Grant
. This grant is very unusual in several respects. It was

fat removed from other 'M;exican settlements at that time.
There were' no prospe~ts of the grantee being able to settle

153. Probably the Rafael Elias of the Agua Prieta grant.
154. Reloj Cattl~ Com~any vs. United States, 184 U.S., 624 If.

. 155~ LOR, . (1888) 495. .
156. Reloi Cattle Co: vs. U: 5., op. cit.
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i~ at a very early date.' It was not the policy of the Mexican
, ·government to grant lands which could not be occupied im­

mediately. This grant was at a.place known as the EI Paso
de Los Algodones on the northern frontier of 'the state .of

.Sonora. . "

The petition' set forth that the applicant, Fernando
Rodriquez of Hermosillo, had suffiCient means to settle and
cultivate. this tract. - It was described as being "entirely on
'the northern frontier of the State, situated between the
Colorado and Gila Rivers; said land including a tract ! • •

on the southside of the .Gila in front of .the juriction of the
same with the Colorado River; as far as the crossing (pass) ,
of the Algodones; and from said point ~bllowing the ea,stern
margin of the Colorado River, as far as the junction of the
same with the Gila, a distance of about five leagues." The
petitioner made a formal registry of the five sitios and .re­
quested that steps be taken for the measurements, valuation,
and publications as 'the law required. He s"tat~d' that he
would settle .upon and occupy the -tract "when the notorio~s

condition and circumstances of the reiion . . ; permit . .'.­
since the said vacant lands are situated in a country desert
and uninhabitable, on account of the hostility' of the sav-

, Ilges, it being well known .that a settlement made by 'Span-.
ish government in the desert country of the Colorado, was
entirely destroyed in a short time by the Yuma Indians and

, other savages." The date of this petition, was January 4, '
. 1838, a time when Sonora was in rebel~ionagainst the, Mexi"" ,

can government.
Steps were then taken preliminary to. selling the land

and issuing a title. Notifications were sent to others claim:-,
ing this land that they might protest. The tre~surer then
authorized the acting commissioner' to proceed with the
measurement, valuation and offering the tract for sale. 'rhe,
five sitios were measured in February. On March 18, 1838,
the appraisers valued the land at $400 or at $80 per square
league "since the same is susceptible for irrigation by waters
of the Gila riyer, and because the lands are suitable for irri­
gation in the .large part if not the whole." Orders for 30
pU,blic offers of sale' (pregones) were' ordered to be pro-
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ceeded with beginning March 7 and concluding April 7,
1838. After notification had been made to the treasurer
general of the state that publications had been completed by
the commissioner, the promotor fiscal of the treasury auth-

, orized the three public offers be made. The offers of. the
sale were held in the city of Arispe May 8, 9, and 10, 1838,
under the supervision of the junta de almonedas (board of
sale). The sale is described as follows:

At the sound of a bell many indfvlduals as­
sembled at the office of the Treasurer General,'
when the auctioneer, Florecio Baldizan, said in a
loud and clear voice, 'There will be sold on account
of the Public Treasury of the State, five, square
leagues of vacant lands, a little more or less, sur­
veyed in favor of the Register of the same, Don
Fernando Rodriquez, a resident of Hermisillo;
said lands, etc. . . .'

The tract was sold to the petitioner for $400.
The proprietary auditor of the general treasury of the

state issued Rodriquez a title on April 12, 1838. It con­
tained one unusual provision that the grantee was to settle
upon the lands "as soon as the circumstances surrounding.
that distant and desert portion of the state may permit him
to do so in view of the eminent danger there on account of
the savages."157

There is no evidence that Rodriquez ever occupied the
grant. It was sold in 1845 to. Juan A. Robinson of Guaymas
who)n turn transferred his rights to the Colorado Commer­
cial and Land COplpany of California in 1873. This firm
presented their claims before the surveyor general of Ari­
zona.' In 18S0 this official recommended the rejection of
the granton the ground that title papers were antedated and
forged. 158 The land office repeatedly urged that Congress
give the grant' special attention by rejecting it so that the
lands could be opened for settlement.159 Earl B. Coe, as
owner, in 1892 filed a petition with the Court of Private

Land Claims asking confirmation of 21-,700 ·acres. In -the·

157. J:PLG, 1:473 If.
158: Ibid•

.' 169. House Report No. 1586. 61 Cong., 1 Sess.; LOR, (1888) 32; LOR (1892)' 228.
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following year, this tribunal ordered that the grant be con-
firmed for the above amount.160 .The government then ap­
pealed the case to the Supreme Court. Here the decision of
the land court was reversed. The case was remanded for
further proceedings on the ground that the state of Sonora
had' no authority to make the/grant as the vacant public
lands became the 'property of the nation in 1836.161 The
claimants.in 1898 asked for a rehearing of the' case. Their
request was denied.162 ,

The Alleged Peralta-Reavis Grant
With<>Ut doubt,' the ~ost sensational case' brought be­

fore the' Court of Private Land Claims was the aJleged
Peralta.;.Reavis grant. Since the foundation of these claims
were found to be. spurious, the writer made-no attempt to.
give "it any more than the most superficial attention. .

James Addison Peralta-Reavis and Sofia Loreto Mica~la

de Peralta-Reavis, nee Maso y Silva de Peralta de Cordova,
maintained they were owners of a large grant of land cov­
ering 12,740,000 acres in Arizona and New Mexico. This
included the land on which are situated Phoenix, the capital
of Arizona, the towns of Flqrence, Tempe, Silver King, Pinal.
and Solomonsville and a portion of White King of San Carlos
Indian Reservation. The claimants averred that this grant
was made to. Miguel Peralta, "Baron of Arizonac, Knight of
the Colorado's, Grandee of Spain, etc."

In support of their claims; 'the Peraltas asserted that
the original grant had been recommended by Philip V of
Spain in 1744 and by his successor, Ferdinand VI in 1748.
It had actually been made by the viceroy of New Spain iIi
1748 and had been subsequently ratified and 'enlarged by
Carlos III. Possession had been given the' grantee in 1758.
The female claimant, Mrs. Peralta-Reavis, it was' main­
tained, became vested with the title to the property as the
grantee's only descendant and heir.163

The title to the grant had been examined by eminent

160. Report of the Attorney General, (1894.) 5.
161. United States vs. Earl B. Coe, 170 U, S., 681 fr.
162. United States vs, Earl B. Coe, 174 U. S., 578 fr.
163. Report of the Attorney General (1895) 17-18.
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forged and !;urreptituously placed in the archives of Spain
and Mexico. This removed the clouds from. thousan9s of
titles held by settlers in New Mexico and Arizona.166

Reavis was subsequently ordered to be arrested by the
.attorney general 'of the United States~ He was indicted for
fraud and forgery and finally convicted of conspiracy to de­
fraud the government of its public lands by means of a
false claim. As a result, he was sentenced to a maximum
ter,m of imprisonment and to pay a fine of $5,000. Theat-

.torney general characterized this' case _in .the following
words:' "In the magnitude of the .claim made and the fer­
tility of cr-iminal resource displayed in its support, thiS c~se
has rarely, if ,ever, been equaled in judicial annals'-'.167

SPANISH TERMS USED

Alc.;ue. A judicial officer whose duties are similar to th'ose of a justice of peace
In the United States.

Caba.lleria. 105,75 acres.
,CabUdo, Council.'
·Cedttla. Order or decree.
EmpresarWs, Undertakers or promoters of extensive ente!'Prises, aided ~Y eon­

cessions or monopolistic grants from' government: particularly. persons receiving, ex­
tensive land grants in consideration of their bringing I';to the country emigrimts and
settling them on the lands, with the view of increasing the population and developing
the resources 'of the country.

Entrada, entrance or entry.
. Expediente, A comple~ statement of every step taken hi the proceedings in mak·

ing a grant.
Hectare, 2.471 acres.

,Intendente, The immediate agent. of the minister of finance or chief and prin•
. clpal director of. the different branch~s ~f the revenues,. appointed in the various de-
partments in each of the' provinceS Into which the Spanish monarchy is divided.

PreBidio, Garrison of .soldlers:
Promotor fiscal, Secular or ecclesiastical attorney general.
Rancho, As 'used in Mexico, it signifies a ranch or large tract of land suitable

for grazing purposes where horses or cattle are raised, and is distinguished from
hacienda, a' c';ltivat~ farm' or plantation. .

. Rancheria, A hamlet.
Regidor, Alderman or magistrate of the city,
Reglamento, Regulation or 'order. ,
Sitio. A square league .containirig 4,338.464 acres.
Testimonio. The first copy of the expediente.
Titulo. Title or legal title to property.
Yam. Contsins 32.9927 inches.

166. Report of Attorney General, (1895>' 17-18.
167. "Ibid( Report of Attorney General, (1896) "xii.
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